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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The Board of Directors presents the management report together with the audited financial statements of the Bank
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The main activity of the Bank is the provision of a wide range of banking and financial services. The Bank is a
wholly owned subsidiary of National Bank of Greece S.A. Group.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The operating environment of the Bank is presented in Note 39 of the financial statements.
REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENTS, POSITION AND PERFORMANCE OF THE BANK’S BUSINESS

As presented on page 12 of the financial statements, the loss of the Bank after taxation amounted to €1.400.596
(2018: profit of €3.009.694).

The main financial highlights for the year are set out below. The decrease in the Bank’s profitability during the
year-ended 31 December 2019 was primarily attributable to the decrease in the interest income during the year.
The decrease in interest income was mainly due to a reduction of loans and advances during the year, mainly due

to repayments.

2019 2018
€000 €000
Net Interest Income 11.833 15.277
Fee and Commission Income 3.835 4.684
Other Income and Foreign Exchange Gains 4.131 1.604
Staff Costs (15.165) (14.465)
Other Operating Expenses (5.755) (5.266)
Credit for Impairment of Loans and Advances to Customers 83 2.377
(Loss)/profit for the Year, after Tax (1.401) 3.010
Gross Loans 253.350 276.882
Customer deposits 597.582 587.445
Total Assets 708.995 683.633
Total Equity 75.975 74.917
2019 2018
Net Interest Margin 1,8% 2,4%
Cost to Income ratio 105,7% 91,5%
Return on average equity -1,9% 2,2%
Loans to Customer Deposits (net) 42,3% 44,4%
NPEs to Gross Loans 18,6% 18,1%
Total capital ratio 30,42% 28,6%

Core Equity Tier 1 ratio 30,42% 28,6%




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

BRANCH NETWORK

The Bank operates in Cyprus through 13 Branches (9 Retail, 2 Business Centres, 2 IBUs). The Bank has also
established a Representative Office in Moscow, Russia.

GOING CONCERN

Management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Despite uncertain economic environment in Cyprus as described in Note 42 of the financial statements, the Board
of Directors of the Bank has assumed that the Bank has the ability to continue its operations as a going concern
on the basis of the Bank’s liquidity and capital adequacy position as disclosed in Note 41 of the financial

statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND USE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS BY THE BANK

The Bank is exposed to various risks, the most important of which are Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, and Market
Risk (including interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk). Detailed information relating to the Bank’s risk
exposures and risk management are set out in Note 40 of the financial statements.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial

loss to the Bank. The Bank has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from counterparty credit
risk. The Bank’s exposure and the credit ratings and credit worthiness of counterparties are regularly monitored
and the counterparty credit exposure is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by
counterparty limits approved by the Bank and which are reviewed and approved at least on an annual basis.

The loan portfolio is assessed on the basis of customer creditworthiness, sector of the economy in which the
customer operates and the country of operation and is regularly audited by the Internal Audit department. The
Bank’s policy regarding the determination of the level of provisions for impairment is described in the summary

of significant accounting policies.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet current and future payments obligations as and when they
fall due. This risk includes the possibility that the Bank may have to raise funding at a higher cost or sell assets at
a discount.

Bank assets are mainly funded by deposits. The maturity of the deposits is actively monitored in order to avoid
concentration of funding maturities at any point in time. The responsibility for the management of liquidity rests

with the Bank’s treasury department.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity requirements, in order to also ensure compliance with the applicable regulatory limits.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices. The Bank is exposed primarily to financial

risks emanating from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The ways that these risks are
dealt with are analysed below:

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because

of changes in market interest rates. It arises as a result of timing differences on the interest rate repricing of assets
and liabilities. The Bank monitors on a continuous basis the interest rate movements and the repricing or maturity

structure of its assets and liabilities.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND USE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS BY THE BANK (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises from an open position in a foreign currency, creating an exposure to a
change in the relevant exchange rate. This may arise from the holding of financial assets in one currency funded

by liabilities in another currency.

In order to manage currency risk, the Bank has approved open position limits for each currency. Adherence to the
limits is monitored on a daily basis by the treasury department and the operations and support division.

EXPECTED FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS OF THE BANK / STRATEGIG TARGETS

The COVID 19 outbreak is a new emerging risk. The Bank’s priority is always the well-being of our customers
and staff. Therefore, we have invoked our business continuity plans to help ensure the safety and well-being of
our staff, as well as our capability to support our customers and maintain our business operations.

The COVID-19 outbreak, and most importantly, the rapid spread of the epidemic globally, is now expected to
adversely affect economic activity worldwide, with the Cyprus economy facing significant challenges in view of
the important role of services in economic activity and its relatively shallow production structure (high
dependence on imports). The evolution of the disease and its economic impact remains highly uncertain. Against
this backdrop of ongoing downward revisions of growth forecasts for the global economy and the euro area, in
conjunction with Cyprus’ high dependency on inbound tourism, Cyprus GDP growth is expected to substantially
deviate from the official scenario in 2020. For accounting purposes, COVID 19 outbreak is considered as a non —
adjusting event.

Depending on how the situation develops and the duration of the disruption, there is the potential for the associated
economic slowdown to impact expected credit losses. It is also possible that the Bank may experience reductions
from lower lending and transaction volumes, which may impact the Risk Weighted Assets and capital position.

The ECL at 31 December 2019 was estimated based on a range of forecast economic conditions as at that date.
The impact on GDP and other key indicators will be considered when determining the severity and likelihood of
downside economic scenarios that will be used to estimate ECL under IFRS 9 in 2020, upon assessment of the

duration of the disruption caused by the virus.

The COVID-19 outbreak and uncertainties surrounding the evolution of the disease and its economic impact
remain highly uncertain.

The strategic objectives of the Bank for the following years are:

. Effective management of the performing portfolio in order to restrain the creation of new non-performing
loans as a result of COVID-19 outbreak

. Effectively manage the non-performing and further reduce the Bank’s NPL ratio.

. Maintain healthy — low cost liquidity, and maintains adequate regulatory liquidity ratios in accordance
with the Central Bank of Cyprus liquidity requirements.

. Generate new interest and non-interest income, increasing profitability and profitability ratios.

. Strengthen capital adequacy position.

J Further strengthening of banking services towards Real Estate, Energy, Education, Shipping and

Construction industries.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no changes in the share capital of the Bank.

RESULTS

The Bank’s results for the year are set out on pages 12 and 13. The loss for the year is transferred to retained
earnings.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period are disclosed in Note 42 of the Financial Statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2019 and at the date of this report are shown on page 1.
All of them were members of the Board throughout the year 2019 and up to the date of this report.

The only significant change in the assignment of responsibilities and remuneration of the Board of Directors
during the year, was that Mr Marinis Stratopoulos, the new Managing Director (CEO) serves the Board as an
Executive Member and Mr Christos Christodoulou as a Non-Executive Member.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited, have expressed their willingness to continue in
office. A resolution giving authority to the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the

Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Louka Katseli Lucia Pagdati
Chairwoman Secretary

Nicosia, 30 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of parent company National Bank of Greece
(Cyprus) Limited (the “Bank”) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31
December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

What we have audited
We have audited the parent company financial statements which are presented in pages 12 to 109 and
comprise:

the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019;

the Income statement for the year then ended;

the Statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the Statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the Notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of

the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Bank throughout the period of our appointment in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board Jfor Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Cyprus and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd, PwC Central, 43 Demostheni Severi Avenue, CY-1080 Nicosia 6
P O Box 21612, CY-1591 Nicosia, Cyprus
T: +357 - 22 555 000, F:+357 - 22 555 001, www.pwe.com.cy

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd is a private company registered in Cyprus (Reg. No.143594). its registered office is at 3 Themistocies Dervis Street, CY-1 066, Nicosia. A list of the
cnmnanye dicactare inclidina far individiale tha nracant and farmar /if amaA nams and ctirmname and natianality if nnt Cvnrint and for ieaal enfities the comarate name is kent
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Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

nraudlt addressed 'th'e Key Audit

Credit loss allowance for loans and advances
to customers, using the expected credit loss
model in line with the requirements of IFRS ¢
“Financial Instruments”

We focused on this area because this is a
complex accounting standard for which
models have been developed by the Bank to
calculate expected credit losses (“ECL”) and
significant judgements and estimates are
involved in estimating expected credit losses
on loans and advances to customers.

Loans and advances to customers comprise a
large portion of the Bank’s total assets and in
view of the significance of the judgements and
estimates involved in estimating expected
credit losses on loans and advances to
customers we have considered this to be a key
audit matter.

Note 3 “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies”, Note 5 “Critical Accounting
Estimates and Judgments”, Note 22 “Credit
loss allowance on loans and advances to
customers” and Note 40 “Risk Management”
to the financial statements provide detailed
information on the estimation of expected
credit losses on loans and advances to
customers, on credit risk management
practices, credit risk exposures, as well as
qualitative and quantitative information
arising from expected credit losses on loans
and advances to customers.

We obtained an understanding of the models

used by the Bank and evaluated management’s
implementation process of these models for the
calculation of expected credit losses (“ECL”).
These included probability-weighted
macroeconomic scenarios, staging criteria and
loss given default estimates.

We have focused on the following judgements
and estimates which could give rise to material
misstatement or are potentially subject to
management bias:

Probability of default (“PD);
Loss given default (“LGD”);
Exposure at default (“EAD”);
Discount rates;

Forward looking information.

Further, in obtaining sufficient audit evidence
we:

* Obtained an understanding and assessed the
reasonableness of the key outputs calculated
by the models;

* Reviewed the design and operating
effectiveness of key controls around the
process of loan performance monitoring;

* Evaluated, challenged and tested the key
assumptions and judgements adopted by
management;

* Reviewed the Bank’s methodology for ECL
provisioning to establish key inputs used in
the calculation engine and on a sample basis
tested the key inputs used. Inputs used in
the sample tested were compared to the ECL
methodology to ensure consistency with
policies;

¢ Performed procedures to obtain comfort on
the accuracy of the ECL calculation process
through recalculation;
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Key Audit Mattgif

- audit addressed the Key Audit

Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank has deferred
tax assets of €6,4 million in respect of tax
losses available to be carried forward to future
years. The basis of the recognition is presented
in Note 3 “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” and further analysed in Note 5
“Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements” and Note 16 “Income Tax”.

The recovery and carrying amount of the
deferred tax assets require management
judgement and estimation in assessing the
probability, timing and sufficiency of future
taxable profits from which deductible
temporary differences and unutilised tax losses
can be offset, particularly when this forecasting
extends beyond the normal planning cycle.
This in turn is based on assumptions
concerning future economic conditions,
business performance and legislation
governing the use of historical trading losses
carried forward.

In light of the inherent uncertainty and
significant amount of judgement and
estimation required by management, we have
considered future forecasts supporting the
recognition of deferred tax assets to be a key
audit matter.

* Performed procedures to ensure that the
Bank applies the three stage approach for
categorisation of loans and advances to
customers and that changes in credit quality
since initial recognition are appropriately
monitored, determined and reflected in the
Bank’s financial position;

¢ Performed loan file reviews to inspect
financial particulars and assessed the
adequacy of ECL;

® Assessed the disclosures made to ensure
compliance with the relevant accounting
standards.

The results of the above procedures were
satisfactory.

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence:

* We agreed the historical taxable losses which
have given rise to the deferred tax asset to
appropriate supporting documentation such
as prior year tax computations;

* We agreed future taxable profits as estimated
by management to the Bank’s 5 year business
plan whose internal mathematical
consistency and calculations were assessed
for accuracy;

* We assessed projected taxable profits for
reasonableness with reference to known
historical results of the Bank;

* We assessed management’s growth estimates
relating to projected new lending against
macroeconomic projections from external
sources;

* We assessed management’s plans for new
lending for reasonableness with reference to
existing and projected levels of excess
liquidity;

* We assessed the Bank’s projected cost base
for reasonableness with reference to the
historical cost basis as adjusted for expected
changes thereon;

* Weassessed the level of projected
impairment losses for consistency with the
level of projected new lending;
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Key Audit Matter ur alldltaddl‘essed :thg Key Audit

* We scrutinised via recalculation the accuracy
of the Bank’s sensitivity analysis pertaining
to adverse developments that may depart
from projected outcomes;

* We assessed the adequacy and
appropriateness of disclosures for
compliance with the applicable accounting
standards.

The results of the above procedures were
satisfactory.

Reporting on other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Management Report but does not include the financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Pursuant to the requirements of Article 10(2) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 we provide the following
information in our Independent Auditor’s Report, which is required in addition to the requirements of
International Standards on Auditing.

Appointment of the Auditor and Period of Engagement

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 5 October 2017 by the Board of Directors of the
Bank for the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Our appointment
has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted

engagement appointment of 3 years.

Consistency of the Additional Report to the Audit Committee
We confirm that our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent

with the additional report to the Audit Committee of the Bank, which we issued 30 June 2020 in
accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation 537/2014.
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Provision of Non-audit Services
We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 of the EU Regulation
537/2014 and Section 72 of the Auditors Law of 2017 were provided. In addition, there are no non-

financial statements or the Management Report.

Other Legal Requirements
Pursuant to the additional requirements of the Auditors Law of 2017, we report the following:

. In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, the Management
Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Cyprus Companies
Law, Cap. 113, and the information given is consistent with the financial statements.

. Inlight of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in
the Management Report. We have nothing to report in this respect.

?)“{h er ﬁ}gf’f’e?‘ I — N

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank’s members as a body in
accordance with Article 10(1) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 and Section 69 of the Auditors Law of
2017 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whose knowledge this report may come to.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is George C.
Kazamias.

George C. Kazamias -
Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor
for and on behalf of

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Auditors

PwC Central, 43 Demostheni Severi Avenue
CY-1080 Nicosia Cyprus

30 June 2020







NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Net foreign exchange gains
Other income

Other losses

Other gains

Staff costs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Other operating expenses

(Loss)/profit before impairment of loans and advances to
customers

Reversal of impairment losses on loans and advances to

customers
Impairment losses on other financial assets

(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses on financial
assets

(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax credit/(charge)

(LOSS)/ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Note

6
7

10
11
12

14
25,26
28
15

22
13

16

2019 2018

€ €
13.466.725 17.929.745
(1.634.074) (2.652.299)
11.832.651 15.277.446
3.834.611 4.684.064
399.883 563.267
3.679.927 874.581
(203.222) (3.733)

- 357.694
19.543.850 21.753.319
(15.165.269) (14.465.262)
(1.075.122) (282.685)
(546.384) (511.665)
(4.133.910) (4.472.006)
(20.920.685) (19.731.618)
(1.376.835) 2.021.701
83.303 2.376.775
(169.481) (857.004)
(86.178) 1.519.771
(1.463.013) 3.541.472
62.417 (531.778)
(1.400.596) 3.009.694

The notes on pages 17 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019 2018

Note € €
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (1.400.596) 3.009.694
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Gain on revaluation of properties 34 215.000 -
Changes in the fair value of equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income 34 2.243.482 763.970
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 2.458.482 763.970
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2.458.482 763.970
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1.057.886 3.773.664

The notes on pages 17 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.



BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank of Cyprus

Deposits with other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Deposits with related banks

Equity investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Investment in subsidiary

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Investment property

Intangible assets

Other assets

Current income tax assets

Deferred income tax assets

Total assets
LIABILITIES

Deposits from other banks

Deposits and other customer accounts
Deposits from related banks

Lease liabilities

Other liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Total liabilities
EQUITY

Share capital
Revaluation reserves

Retained eamnings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Mark Klierides
Independent, Non-Executive Member

Note

17
17
18
20
21(a)

23(a)
23(b)
24
19
25
26
27
28
29

16(b)

30
31
21(b)
26
32
16(b)

33
34

Yiannos Michael
Chief Financial Officer

2019
€

49.202.111
6.086.485
38.828.908
240.364.963
185.861.725

6.662.847
5.212
146.787.096
1.709
10.385.422
3.054.955
4.004.500
5.042.211
4.825.691
1.453.904
6.427.398

708.995.137
R —

16.944.584
597.582.328
4.828.072
3.144.266
8.702.494
1.818.295

633.020.039
e

51.300.000
15.249.927
9.425.171

75.975.098

——————————

708.995.137

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

2018
€

25.931.937
5.768.221
31.944.863
260.984.078
174.677.032

4.419.365
6.434
150.366.162
1.709
10.385.582

4.206.500
4.717.612
2.500.211
1.453.904
6.268.900

——————

683.632.510
e e

8.359.964
587.445.312
809.138

10.373.669
1.727.215

—————————

608.715.298
e

51.300.000
12.791.445
10.825.767

e e—

74.917.212

tr—————————

683.632.510
e )

The notes on pages 17 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Revaluation
reserve for
Property financial
revaluation assets at Retained
Share Capital reserve FVOCI earnings (1) Total
€ € € € €
Balance at 1 January 2018 51.300.000 8.182.266 3.845.209 77.816.073 141.143.548
Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year - - - 3.009.694 3.009.694
Other comprehensive income for the
year (Note 23) - - 763.970 - 763.970
Total comprehensive income for the
year - - 763.970 3.009.694 3.773.664
Reduction in retained earnings in
relation to CAC Coral transaction (2) - - - (70.000.000) (70.000.000)
Balance at 31 December 2018/1
January 2019 51.300.000 8.182.266 4.609.179 10.825.767 74.917.212
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the year - - - (1.400.596) (1.400.596)
Other comprehensive income for the
year (Notes 23, 25) - 215.000 2.243.482 - 2.458.482
Total comprehensive income for the
year - 215.000 2.243.482 (1.400.596) 1.057.886
Balance at 31 December 2019 51.300.000 8.397.266 6.852.661 9.425.171 75.975.098
S
1) Companies which do not distribute 70% of their profits after tax, as defined by the Special Contribution for the Defence of the Republic Law, by the

end of the two years after the end of the ye

Special contri

ar of assessment to which the profits refer, will be deemed to have distributed this amount as dividend.
bution for defence will be payable on such deemed dividend to the extent that the shareholders for deemed dividend distribution purposes

at the end of the period of two years from the end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, are Cyprus tax residents. The special contribution

for defence rate increased from 5%
2010 and 2011 and was reduced back to 1
is reduced by any actual dividend paid out o
to which the profits refer. This special contr:

to 17% in respect of profits of year of assessment 2009 and to 20% in respect of profits of years of assessment
7% in respect of profits of years of assessment 2012 onwards. The amount of this deemed dividend distribution
f the profits of the relevant year by the end of the period of two years from the end of the year of assessment
ibution for defence is paid by the Company for the account of the shareholders.

) The €70 million decrease in retained earnings during 2018, is in relation to the transfer during December 2018 of a part of the Bank’s Stage 3 loan
portfolio to CAC Coral Ltd (related party). The net amount of loans transferred was €167,5 million in respect of which €97,5 million were settled in
cash and the remaining €70 million were settled via the aforementioned retained eamings reduction.

The notes on pages 17 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of Cyprus government bonds and treasury bills
Proceeds from disposal and maturity of Cyprus
government bonds and treasury bills

Proceeds from sale of equity investment

Dividend income received

Interest received on debt securities

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowed funds

Payment of principal portion of lease liability
Payment of interest portion of lease liability
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Credit losses on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Non-cash transactions

For details of non-cash transactions refer to Note 38.

Note

36

28
25
24
38(v)

24

38(iv)
26
26

37

2019
€

37.978.115

——

(870.983)
(52.509)
(366.153.343)

370.050.630

88.659
1.074.060

Srm——————

4.136.514

———————————

(652.180)
(126.899)

(779.079)
41.335.550
132.313
233.275.112

———————

274.742.975
b

2018
€

23.358.981

(248.291)
(24.861)
(453.965.940)

425.949.229
1.581.327
130.288
1.354.797

————

(25.223.451)

——————r—

97.650.000

3

97.650.000
95.785.530
734.814
136.754.768

—————————

233.275.112

e

The notes on pages 17 to 109 form an integral part of the financial statements.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation

National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited (the “Bank”) is incorporated in Cyprus as a private limited
Jiability company in accordance with the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. Its parent
and ultimate holding company is National Bank of Greece S.A., a Bank incorporated in Greece.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Bank are the provision of a wide range of banking and financial services.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

During the current year the Bank adopted all the new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) that are relevant to its operations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on
1 January 2019. This adoption did not have a material effect on the accounting policies of the Company,

except for:

. IFRS 16 “Leases”
. IFRIC 23 "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments"
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle - amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and

IAS 23.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases.
All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the lease and, if lease
payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the classification
of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by 1AS 17 and, instead, introduces a
single lessee accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognise: (a) assets and liabilities for all
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and (b) depreciation
of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. IFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify
its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

The Bank has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 January 2019, but has not restated comparatives
for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the transitional provisions of the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised on the
opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information is prepared and

disclosed in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”™.

The adoption of IFRS 16 impacted the Bank’s accounting policies for leases in which it is acting as a
Jessee. The Bank’s new accounting policies following adoption of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 are set out

in Note 3.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 for which it was acting as a lessee.
These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental lessee rate as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 1.71%.

No leases previously classified as finance leases were recognised by the Bank.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

Practical expedients applied

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Bank has used the following practical expedients permitted by

the standard:

. reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous in assessing whether the right-
of-use asset is impaired;

o the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application, and

) the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend

or terminate the lease.

As at 1 January 2019, the Bank had no operating lease commitments under a non-cancellable operating
lease.

The Bank recognised right-of-use assets of €4.998.072 as at 1 January 2019. These were measured at the
amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 201 8. There were no onerous lease
contracts that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application.

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019:

Increase €

Right-of-use assets 4.998.072
Lease liabilities 4.998.072

There was no impact on retained earnings on 1 January 2019.

The Bank did not hold any assets as lessor under operating leases as at 1 January 2019.

The assessment of the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on the Bank’s accounting policies as well as the
calculation of the lease liability and associated right-of-use assets as at the date of transition required
management to make certain critical judgments in the process of applying the principles of the new
standard. The judgments that had the most significant effect on management's conclusion are disclosed in
Note 5. The Bank has followed the IFRS 16 implementation policies set out by the parent bank.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. Apart from the accounting policy changes resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16
effective from 1 January 2019, these policies have been consistently applied to all the years

presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies

Law, Cap. 113.

As of the date of the authorisation of the financial statements, all International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective as of 1
January 2019 have been adopted by the EU through the endorsement procedure established by the

European Commission.

These separate financial statements contain information about National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited
as an individual Bank and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The
Bank has taken advantage of the exemption under IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and the
Cyprus Companies Law, Cap.113 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements as
the Bank and its subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements of its parent, National
Bank of Greece S.A., which prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU that are available for public use. These consolidated
financial statements are available at the National Bank of Greece S.A.'s website (www.nbg.gr).

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The Bank's presentation currency is the Euro (€), which is also the Bank’s functional currency.

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and buildings, investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of

each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the Bank's financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are

presented in Euro (€), which is the Bank's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing

at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the closing rate as at the reporting
date. Non-monetary items measured at historic cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with
the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are
measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
recognised in profit or loss, as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are included in other comprehensive income.

Revenue
Recognition and measurement

Revenue represents the amount of consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised services to the customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties
(for example, value-added taxes); the transaction price. The Bank includes in the transaction price an amount
of variable consideration as a result of rebates/discounts only to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Estimations for rebates and discounts
are based on the Bank’s experience with similar contracts.

The Bank recognises revenue when the parties have approved the contract (in writing, orally or in accordance
with other customary business practices) and are committed to perform their respective obligations, the Bank
can identify each party’s rights and the payment terms for the services to be transferred, the contract has
commercial substance (i.e. the risk, timing or amount of the Bank’s future cash flows is expected to change
as aresult of the contract), it is probable that the Bank will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled
in exchange for the services that will be transferred to the customer and when specific criteria have been met
for each of the Bank’s contracts with customers.

The Bank bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of
consideration is probable, the Bank considers only the customer’s ability and intention to pay that amount of
consideration when it is due.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue (continued)

Identification of performance obligations

The Bank assesses whether contracts that involve the provision of a range of services contain one or more
performance obligations (that is, distinct promises to provide a service) and allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation identified on the basis of its stand-alone selling price. A service that is promised
10 a customer is distinct if the customer can benefit from the service, either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer (that is the service is capable of being distinct) and the
Bank’s promise to transfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (that is, the service is distinct within the context of the contract).

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised over time on a straight line basis as the services are rendered,
when the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Bank’s performance.
Such income includes recurring fees for account maintenance, account servicing fees, guarantee issue fee
and agency fee income whereby the Bank acts as an agent of a third party in entering and completing a
transaction on pre-determined terms and conditions.

Fee and commission income is recognised at a point in time when the Bank satisfies its performance
obligation, usually upon execution of the underlying transaction. The amount of fee or commission received
or receivable represents the transaction price for the services identified as distinct performance obligations.
Such income includes fees for processing payment transactions, fees for cash settlements and collection of

cash disbursements.

Rental income

Rental income arising on operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Bank is the lessee

Until 31 December 2018, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance leases or
operating leases. In particular, leases of property, plant and equipment where the Bank, as lessee, had
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership were classified as finance leases.

No leases previously classified as finance leases were recognised by the Bank.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were retained by the lessor were
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Bank, with limited exceptions as set out below.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Bank has elected not to separate lease and
non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component. The Bank allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

* fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

*  variable lease payment that are based on an index or arate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

¢  amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

® Ppayments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Since that rate cannot be
readily determined, the NBG Group incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Group would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Bank:

*  where possible, uses recent third-party financing received as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received,
e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of

the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

* the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
® any initial direct costs; and

®  restoration costs.

Any remeasurement of the lease liability arising if the cash flows change based on the original terms and
conditions of the lease results in a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset. The adjustment can

be positive or negative.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Bank revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings

held by the Bank.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

In determining the lease term, management of the Bank considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options
(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain
to be extended (or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not
exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects
this assessment, and that is within the control of the Bank.

Right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy for
impairment of non-financial assets.

Right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities are presented as separate lines on the face of the balance
sheet.

There are no lease where the Bank is the lessor.

Initial recognition of financial instruments

Financial instruments at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial instruments are
initially recorded at fair value adjusted for transaction costs.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is price
in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Fair value of financial
instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price for the individual
asset or liability and the quantity held by the entity. This is the case even if a market’s normal daily trading
volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to sell the position in a single

transaction might affect the quoted price.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial
recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be
evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation
technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets. After the initial recognition, an ECL
allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at AC and investments in debt instruments measured

at FVOCI, resulting in an immediate accounting loss.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at settlement date, which
is the date on which the asset is delivered to the Group. All other purchases are recognised when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Any change in fair value of the assets
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or at other comprehensive income to be
received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is recognised in profit or loss and
in OCI, respectively. However changes in the fair value of assets carried at amortized cost between trade

date and settlement date are not recognized.

Financial assets — Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

* those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and
* those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Bank’s business
model for managing the related assets portfolio and (i) the cash flow characteristics of the asset. On initial
recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a debt financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, classification will depend on whether
the Bank has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). This election is made on an

investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Bank has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Financial assets - Recognition and derecognition

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the
date when the Bank commits to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales are recognized
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets — Measurement

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
or loss. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial
recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be
evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique
whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Bank’s business model for managing the asset

and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Bank classifies all of its debt instruments at amortised cost.

Under the amortised cost measurement category, assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income’. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the income
statement. Financial assets measured at amortised cost (AC) comprise: cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposits with original maturity over 3 months, Loans and advances to customers, Deposits with Banks, Cash
Balances with Central Bank and Financial Assets at amoritsed cost.

Equity instruments
The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Bank’s management has

elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment,
any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. The Bank’s policy is to
designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for strategic purposes other than
solely to generate investment returns. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Bank’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in “other gains/(losses)” in the income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets — impairment — credit loss allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECL)

From 1 January 2018, the Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL for al] financial assets measured
at AC and for the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank
measures ECL and recognises credit loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement within “credit losses on other financial assets” and
“credit gains/losses on loans and advances to customers”.

Debt instruments, loans and advances to customers and other financial assets measured at AC are presented
in the balance sheet net of the allowance for ECL. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts,
a separate provision for ECL is recognised as a liability in the balance sheet.

For debt instruments at F VOCI, an allowance for ECL is recognised in profit or loss and it affects fair value
gains or losses recognised in OCI rather than the carrying amount of those instruments.

For all financial assets that are subject to impairment under IFRS 9, the Bank applies the general approach —
three stage model for impairment. The Bank applies a three stage model for impairment, based on changes
in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial

to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until
contractual maturity, if shorter (“12 Months ECL”). If the Bank identifies a significant increase in credit risk
(“SICR”) since initial recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL
on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any
(“Lifetime ECL”). Refer to Note 40, Credit risk section for a description of how the Bank determines when
a SICR has occurred. If the Bank determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred
to Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL. The Bank’s definition of credit impaired assets and
definition of default is explained in Note 40, Credit risk section.

Financial assets — Reclassification

Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the start of the first reporting period following

the change.

Financial assets — write-off

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Bank exhausted al] practical recovery efforts
and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off represents a
derecognition event. The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity
when the Bank seeks to recover amounts that are contractually due, however, there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets — modification

The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial assets. The
Bank assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial considering, among other,
the following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect the risk profile of the asset (eg profit
share or equity-based return), significant change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, new
collateral or credit enhancement that significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a
significant extension of a loan when the borrower is not in financial difficulties.

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and
the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of
renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation
purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Bank also assesses whether the new loan
or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the original asset
derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the

substance of the difference 1s attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to
make the originally agreed payments, the Bank compares the original and revised expected cash flows to
assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from
the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Bank recalculates the gross
carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate,
and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes
of the statement of cash flows, consist of balances with less than three months maturity, including cash,
unrestricted balances with central bank and amounts due from other banks.

Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at AC because: (i) they are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPL, and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL.

Interest income and expense calculated using the effective interest method

Interest income for all financial assets carried at amortised cost and all debt financial assets carried at fair
value through other comprehensive income is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest
method. Interest expense for all interest bearing financial instruments is recognised in profit or loss using the

effective interest method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. excluding future credit losses) or to the amortised cost of a financial
liability. The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for
financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing
date, except for the premium or discount, which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in
the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised
over the whole expected life of the instrument.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interest income and expense calculated using the effective interest method (continued)

The effective interest calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such

as origination fees.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets — assets that are credit impaired at
initial recognition, the Bank calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based
on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact
of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial
assets, except for:

(a) POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost of the financial assets; and

(b) Financial assets that are not “POCI” but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or “stage 3”), for
which interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the

expected credit loss provision).

When applying the effective interest method, the Bank amortises any fees, points paid or received, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate over

Transaction costs include fees and commission paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by
regulatory agencies and security exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include
debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

Commitment fees received by the Bank to originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective
interest rate if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect
to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Bank does not designate loan commitments as financial

liabilities at FVTPL.

Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (F VTPL) and at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Dividends are recognised as other income in profit




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantee for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial
institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. Financial
guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees
received. This amount is amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee in other income in

profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, the guarantee is subsequently at the higher of:

e  the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the difference in cash flows
between the contractual payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming

the obligations.
Credit related commitments

The Bank issues commitments to provide loans. Commitments to provide loans are initially recognised at
their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. Such loan commitment fees are

deferred and included in the carrying value of the loan on initial recognition. Loan commitments provided
by the Bank are measured as the amount of the loss allowance calculated under IFRS 9.

At the end of each reporting period, the commitments are measured at

@) the remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition, plus
(ii) the amount of the loss allowance determined based on the expected credit loss model.

For loan commitments (where those components can be separated from the loan), a separate provision for
ECL is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial position. However, for contracts that include
both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank cannot separately identify the expected credit losses
on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the
undrawn commitment are recognised together with the Joss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the
combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are

recognised as a provision.
Financial liabilities — measurement categories

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and classified as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial
liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition and
(i) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

the Bank’s balance sheet while the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to other banks or due to

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the
carrying amounts do no differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the balance
sheet date. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other
comprehensive income and shown as revaluation reserve in shareholders® equity. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against
revaluation reserve directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

The property revaluation reserve includes revaluation of property initially used by the Bank for its operations
and subsequently transferred to investment properties.

On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when an asset is derecognised.

Furniture and equipment and motor vehicles are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

The annual depreciation rates used are as follows:

%
Buildings and installations 3t020
Furniture and equipment 10 to 20
Motor vehicles 20

No depreciation is charged on land.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Expenditure for repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment is charged to the income
statement of the year in which they were incurred. The cost of major renovations and other subsequent

expenditure are included in the carrying amount of the asset or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property
under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value as at
the reporting date. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Valuations are carried out by independent

qualified valuers applying valuation models.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Computer software

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by
the Bank and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised
as intangible assets. Subsequently computer software is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization

and any accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmer beyond their
original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the computer
software. Costs associated with maintenance of computer software programmer are changed to the income

statement of the year in which they were incurred.

Computer software costs are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives, not
exceeding a period of three years. Amortisation commences when the computer software is available for
use.

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events relating to charges to circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount
then the intangible assets are written down to their recoverable amount.

Useful economic lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that have suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Employee benefits
The Bank and the employees contribute to a defined contributions scheme.

Under the defined contributions scheme the Bank and members of staff pay fixed contributions into a
separate provident fund. The Bank’s contributions are recognised in the period they relate to and included
in staff costs in the income statement. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions

have been paid.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Bank
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Bank can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the

reporting period are discounted to their present value.
Current and deferred income tax

Current income tax
Income tax payable/(receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective

Jurisdiction and is recognised as an expense/(income) for the period except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the country in which the Bank operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation.

If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation, it establishes provision where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Where tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against taxable profits of future periods a deductible
temporary difference arises. Those losses carried forward are set off against deferred tax liabilities carried

in the balance sheet.

The Bank does not offset current income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

Temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
computer software.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The tax effects of carry-forward of unused losses or unused tax credits are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax related to items recognised in other comprehensive income, is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the Bank where there is an intention to settle the

balances on a net basis.

Special levy

According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 20157, special levy is imposed on
credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on 31% December, 31* March, 30" June and
30t September on qualifying deposits held by each credit institution. The special levy is included in other

operating expenses, Note 15.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments include foreign exchange forward contracts. These instruments are initially
recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Derivative financial instruments
are recognised as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
Changes in the fair value of derivative assets and derivative liabilities are included in net profit or loss for

the period.
Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has: (a) a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from
past events, (b) it is probable that the obligation will result in an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits, and (c) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest

expense.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Deposits from banks and deposits from customers

Deposits from banks and deposits from customers are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in interest expense in the income statement using the effective
interest rate method. Deposits from banks and deposits from customers are derecognised when they are
extinguished, that is, when the obligation in discharged.

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Bank has control. The Bank controls
an entity when the Bank is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment. Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised through the income statement for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed where appropriate if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Related party transactions

Related parties include the parent and ultimate controlling party, fellow subsidiaries, other group companies
under common control, directors and key management personnel, their close families, companies owned or
controlled by them and companies whose financial and operating policies they can influence. Transactions of
similar nature within the same category are disclosed on an aggregated basis.

Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or disclosed
th comparative information. Where applicable, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with
changes in presentation in the current year. Further details are disclosed in Note 2.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

At the date of approval of these financial statements a number of new standards, interpretations and amendments
to existing standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2019 and have not been applied
in preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial
statements of the Bank, except the following set out below:

. Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (issued on 29 March 2018
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). The revised Conceptual
Framework includes: a new chapter on measurement; guidance on reporting financial performance;
improved definitions and guidance — in particular, the definition of a liability; and clarifications in
important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial
reporting. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements and
as of the date of issue of these financial statements the impact of the amendments is not known/ or

reasonable estimable.

. Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB). The EU endorsement is postponed as IASB effective date is deferred
indefinitely. These amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a
transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that
do not constitute a business, even if these assets are held by a subsidiary. The Bank is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments on its financial statements and as of the date of issue of these financial
statements the impact of the amendments is not known/ or reasonable estimable.

. IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to carry on
accounting for insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consequence, it was difficult for investors
to compare and contrast the financial performance of otherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 171is
a single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance
contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires recognition and measurement of groups of insurance
contracts at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that
incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent
with observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) or minus (if this value is an asset) (ii)
an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin).
Insurers will be recognising the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide
insurance coverage, and as they are released from risk. If a group of contracts is or becomes loss-making,
an entity will be recognising the loss immediately. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the new
standard on its financial statements and as of the date of issue of these financial statements the impact of
the adoption of this standard is not known/ or reasonable estimable.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

4. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (continued)

o Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a business (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective for
acquisitions from the beginning of annual reporting period that starts on or after 1 January 2020).
The amendments revise definition of a business. A business must have inputs and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The new guidance
provides a framework to evaluate when an input and a substantive process are present, including for
early stage companies that have not generated outputs. An organised workforce should be present as
a condition for classification as a business if are no outputs. The definition of the term ‘outputs’ is
narrowed to focus on goods and services provided to customers, generating investment income and
other income, and it excludes returns in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits. It is
also no longer necessary to assess whether market participants are capable of replacing missing
elements or integrating the acquired activities and assets. An entity can apply a ‘concentration test’.
The assets acquired would not represent a business if substantially all of the fair value of gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets). The Bank is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements and as of the date of issue of these
financial statements the impact of the amendments is not known/ or reasonable estimable.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

In the preparation of the financial statements the management of the Bank is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in
the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

Expected credit loss measurement (ECL)

Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models and data
inputs. Details of ECL measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 40. The following components have
a major impact under each segment on credit loss allowance: definition of default, significant increase in
credit risk (“SICR”), probability of default (“PD”), and loss given default (“LGD”), as well as models of
macro-economic scenarios. The Bank regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to
reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Expected credit loss measurement (continued)

In assessing LGDs for secured exposures, the Bank considers the range of relevant risk drivers, including:
collateral type, geography (location of the collateral) and seniority of the lending exposure. Management
exercises its judgement in determining the relevant valuation collateral haircuts used to determine the
collateral values for LGD calculation and applied to consider liquidity and quality of pledged assets. When
the collateral values exceed the individual credit exposures, the minimum LGD floor is applied for the

measurement of ECL.

In its collective assessment model, the Bank uses loan to value (LTV) buckets in order to assign an LGD for
each bucket. As at 31 December 2019, if all loans were downgraded by 1 LTV bucket, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers of €0,4 million (2018: €0,7

million).
Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement

The Bank determines the ECL, which is a probability-weighted amount by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes. Management uses forward-looking scenarios and assesses the suitability of weights used. These
are based on management’s assumptions taking into account macroeconomic, market and other factors.
Changes in these assumptions and in the external factors could significantly impact ECL. Macroeconomic
inputs and weights per scenario are based on external market data.

Qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made when inputs calculated do not capture all the
characteristics of the market. These are reviewed and adjusted if considered necessary by the Bank’s
Management. No qualitative adjustments or overlays were made as at the reporting date.

Economic and credit conditions within geographical areas are influenced by many factors with a high degree
of interdependency so that there is no one single factor to which the Bank’s ECL as a whole is particularly
sensitive. The Bank uses three different economic scenarios.

The most significant period - end assumptions relatively to macroeconomic scenarios used for the ECL
estimate for the year 2019 are set out below.

The scenarios "base", "optimistic" and "adverse" were used for all portfolios.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
EUR Billions

Consumption Base 3.4 3,4 3,5 3,6 3,6 3,6
Optimistic 34 3,5 3,6 3,6 3,6 3,6

Adverse 32 3,3 34 3,5 3,5 35

%

HICP Base 1,5 1,7 1,8 1.8 1,8 1,8
Optimistic 2 2 1,9 1.9 1,9 1,9

Adverse -0,2 0.8 1,3 1,6 1,6 1,6

%

Unemployment Base 9,9 9,2 8,5 7,9 71,9 7,9
Optimistic 8.8 82 7,7 7,3 7,3 7,3

Adverse 114 10 9 8.3 8.3 8,3
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Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
%

aDP Base 2.4 2,2 2,2 2,2 2,2 2,2
Optimistic 3 2,7 2,5 2,3 2,3 2,3

Adverse 1,2 1,6 1.9 2,1 2,1 2,1

%

CPPI Base 2 2,2 2,4 2,5 2,5 2,5
Optimistic 2.8 2,7 2,6 2,6 2,6 2,6

Adverse 0 1 1,6 2,1 2,1 2,1

The most significant year-end assumptions relating to macroeconomic scenarios used for the ECL estimate
or the year 2018 are set out below. The scenarios "base", "optimistic" and "adverse" were used for all

portfolios.
Year
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Mortgages and Consumer
loans
€ Billions
Consumption Base 33 34 34 3.5 3.6 3.6
Optimistic 3.3 3.5 35 3.6 3.6 3.6
Adverse 3.2 3.2 3.3 3.4 35 3.5
%
Harmonised Index of Base 0,7 1,1 1.8 1,9 1,9 1,9
Consumer Prices (HICP) Optimistic 1.9 1.5 1,8 1.4 1,6 1,6
Adverse -1,8 -0,2 1,8 2,7 3.4 3,4
%
Unemployment Base 10,7 9.9 9,2 8.5 7,7 7,7
Optimistic 9.4 9,3 9,3 9,0 8.3 8,3
Adverse 13,2 11,2 9,2 7.7 6,2 6,2
Corporate loans
%
Gross Domestic Product Base 2,6 2.4 2,2 2,2 2,2 2,2
(GDP) Optimistic 39 3,0 2,1 1,7 1,6 1,6
Adverse 0,1 1,1 2,2 3,0 3,7 3,7
%
Commercial Property Base 1,2 2,0 2,5 2,9 3,2 3,2
Price Index (CPPI) Optimistic , 2,5 2,6 2,4 2,4 2,6 2,6
Adverse -1,3 0,7 2,5 3,7 4,7 4,7

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were
as follows:

Base Optimistic Adverse
Loans and Advances to Customers 45% 35% 20%

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenaria weights were changed as per the table below, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,03 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
45% 25% 30%
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenaria weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,05 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
45% 20% 35%

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenaria weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,02 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
55% 20% 25%

As at 31 December 2018, if the scenaria weights were changed as per the table below, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,1 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
45% 20% 35%

As at 31 December 2018, if the scenaria weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,1 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
55% 20% 25%

As at 31 December 2019, if unemployment and consumption were changed as per the below tabulated
scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected credit losses on the mortgages and
consumer loan portfolios as per the table below:

3,10% No Change -3,10%

-5% - - -

Unemployment No Change -11.523 - -
5% - - 377.875

As at 31 December 2019, if unemployment and Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) were
changed as per the below tabulated scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected
credit losses on the mortgages and consumer loans and advances to customers as the table below:

HICP
2,10% No Change -2,10%
-5% -34.525 - -

Unemployment No Change - - -
5% - - 138.316
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)
Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, if Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and Commercial Property Price Index (CPPI)
were changed as per the below tabulated scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected

credit losses on the corporate portfolios as per the table below:

CPPI
2,10% No Change -2,10%
2% -20.882 - -
GDP No Change - - -
2% - - 283.175

As at 31 December 2018, if unemployment and consumption were changed as per the below tabulated
scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected credit losses on the mortgages and

consumer loan portfolios as per the table below:

Mortgages and Consumer loans
Consumption
€ 2,2% No Change -2,2%
-5% - 15.119 -
Unemployment No change (208) - (4.924)
5% - - -

As at 31 December 2018, if unemployment and Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) were
changed as per the below tabulated scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected
credit losses on the mortgages and consumer loans and advances to customers as the table below:

Mortgages and Consumer loans

HICP

€

1,7%

No Change

-1,7%

Unemployment

-5%

(11.240)

No change _

5%

45.847
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, if Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and Commercial Property Price Index (CPPI)
were changed as per the below tabulated scenaria, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected

credit losses on the corporate portfolios as per the table below:

Corporate loans
CPPI
€ 3% No Change -3%
2% (4.270) - -
GDP No change - - -
2% - - 550.360

Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”)

IFRS 9 does not include a definition of significant increase in credit risk. The Bank assesses whether
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition using predominantly quantitative and
in certain cases qualitative information. The determination of the relevant thresholds to determine whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred, involves management judgement.

In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank compares the risk
of a default occurring over the life of a financial instrument at the end of the reporting date with the risk of
default at the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers relative increase in credit risk rather than
achieving a specific level of credit risk at the end of the reporting period. The Bank considers all reasonable
and supportable forward looking information available without undue cost and effort, which includes a range
of non-financial factors used for the determination of the internal credit risk of the borrower.

Expected lifetime of revolving facilities

Judgement is exercised on the measurement period of expected lifetime for revolving facilities. The Bank
exercises judgement in determining the period over which ECL should be computed, on the basis of historical

experience with respect to the typical average life of such facilities.

Business model assessment

The business model drives classification of financial assets. Management applied judgement in determining
the level of aggregation and portfolios of financial instruments when performing the business model

assessment.

When assessing sales transactions, the Bank considers their historical frequency, timing and value, reasons
for the sales and expectations about future sales activity. Sales transactions aimed at minimising potential
losses due to credit deterioration are considered consistent with the “hold to collect™ business model. Other
sales before maturity, not related to credit risk management activities, are also consistent with the “hold to
collect” business model, provided that they are infrequent or insignificant in value, both individually and in
aggregate. The Bank assesses significance of sales transactions by comparing the value of the sales to the
value of the portfolio subject to the business model assessment over the average life of the portfolio. In
addition, sales of financial asset expected only in a stress case scenario, or in response to an isolated event
that is beyond the Bank’s control, is not recurring and could not have been anticipated by the Bank, are
regarded as incidental to the business model objective and do not impact the classification of the respective

financial assets.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Business model assessment (continued)

The “hold to collect and sell” business model means that assets are held to collect the cash flows, but selling
is also integral to achieving the business model’s objective, such as, managing liquidity needs, achieving a
particular yield, or matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that fund

those assets.

The residual category includes those portfolios of financial assets, which are managed with the objective
of realising cash flows primarily through sale, such as where a pattern of trading exists. Collecting
contractual cash flow is often incidental for this business model.

Fair value of financial instruments

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. The fair value of shares and
other financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market is determined using valuation models.

Certain financial instruments are valued on the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more
significant inputs that are not observable. Valuation techniques that rely on non-observable inputs require
a higher level of management judgement to calculate a fair value than those based wholly on observable
inputs. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could affect the fair value of the relevant financial

instruments.

More information on changes in the fair value of bonds, shares and other financial instruments is disclosed
in Note 40.

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

If the final result of the tax statement of the Bank varied by 30% (2018: 30%) from management’s
expectations due to the uncertainties in the tax treatment of these issues, there would be no significant
change in the current tax liabilities because the Bank maintains a significant amount of tax losses which

can be utilized against it.

Deferred tax assets are recognised by the Bank in respect of tax losses to the extent that is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. These variables have been established
on the basis of significant management judgement and are subject to uncertainty. It is possible that the
actual future events could be different from the assumptions made, resulting in material adjustment to the
carrying amount of deferred tax assets.

The assumptions with greater influence on deferred tax are disclosed in Note 16.
Fair value of properties held for own use and investment properties

The properties held by the Bank for own use as well as the investment properties, are measured at fair value
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Fair value is determined from valuations undertaken
by professionally qualified valuers based on market signals for their existing use and is carried out at regular
intervals so that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)
Fair value of properties held for own use and investment properties (continued)

In arriving at their estimates of the fair values of properties, the valuers use their market knowledge and
professional judgement and do not rely solely on historical transactional comparable, taking into
consideration that there is a greater degree of uncertainty than that which exists in a more active market.
Depending on the nature of the underlying asset and available market information, the determination of the
fair value of property may require the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets and discount
rates applicable to those assets. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the

reporting date.

If the estimated value per square meter used in the calculations for the properties held for own use was
reduced by 15% the value of the properties would be €1,5m (2018: €1,5m) lower, with an equivalent impact

in the income statement.

If the estimated value per square meter used in the calculations for investment properties was reduced by
15% the value of the building would have been €0,6m (2018: €0,6m) lower, with an equivalent impact in

the income statement.
More information on inputs used is disclosed in Notes 25 and 27.

. Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended

(or not terminated).

For property leases, the following factors are normally the most relevant:

J If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Bank is typically reasonably certain
to extend (or not terminate).

. If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Bank is
typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

. Otherwise, the Bank considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and

business disruption required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension options in offices and branches leases have been included in the lease liability, because the
Bank could not replace the assets without significant cost or business disruption.

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged
to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control

of the lessee.
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6. INTEREST INCOME

2019 2018

€ €

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 10.711.776 16.387.979
Deposits with banks and central bank at amortised cost 1.375.941 960.829
Investment in bonds at amortised cost (Note 24) 1.379.008 580.937
13.466.725 17.929.745

Interest income from loans and advances to customers includes interest on the net carrying amount of impaired

loans and advances to customers amounting to €1.745.592 (2018: €4.595.688).

7. INTEREST EXPENSE

2019 2018
€ €
Deposits and other customer accounts at amotised cost 1.418.985 2.090.872
Deposits from banks at amortised cost 215.089 561.427
1.634.074 2.652.299

8. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
2019 2018
€ €
Fees 1.058.664 1.188.155
Commissions 2.775.947 3.495.909
3.834.611 4.684.064

The Bank’s fee and commission income are primarily recognised at a point in time.

9. NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS

Net foreign exchange gains comprises the translation of monetary assets in foreign currency at the end of the
reporting period, realised exchange gains or losses from transactions in foreign currency which have been

settled during the year and the revaluation of foreign exchange derivatives.
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10. OTHER INCOME

Dividend income
Other income

2019
€

88.659
3.591.268

3.679.927

2018
€

130.288
744.293

874.581

e

The increase in Other Income during the year mainly arises from one-off income (€2.0m) relating to
the compensation receivable by the Bank in relation to an expropriation of land owned by the Bank from

the Cyprus Government.

11. OTHER LOSSES

Loss on revaluation of investment property (Note 27)
Fair value loss on equity investments classified as fair value

through profit or loss

12. OTHER GAINS

Gain from sale of equity investment (Note 38(v))

13. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Impairment loss on balances with banks — ECL
Impairment loss on other financial assets at amortised cost — ECL

2019
€

202.000
1.222

203.222

2019
€

132.313
37.168

169.481

2018

3.733

3.733

2018
€

357.694

e

2018
€

734.814
122.190

857.004

e



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

14.

15.

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

STAFF COSTS
2019 2018
€ €
Salaries 11.758.191 11.321.419
Employer’s contributions 1.834.734 1.549.021
Provident fund contributions 1.077.897 1.107.684
Other staff expenses 494.447 487.138
15.165.269 14.465.262

The number of staff employed by the Bank as of 31 December 2019 was 249 (2018: 260). The average
number of staff employed by the Bank for 2019 was 254 (2018: 261).

The bank operates a defined contribution plan.

Based on the agreement signed in June 2014, the Bank’s contribution to the provident fund was 12%, which
was revised to 9,75% from January 2017.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2019 2018

€ €

Occupancy costs 451.129 585.487
Rentals - 772.467
Advertising and marketing 321.812 323.360
Repairs and maintenance 1.096.073 795.759
Other operating expenses 1.355.796 1.121.758
Special levy on deposits (1) 909.100 873.175
4.133.910 4.472.006

(1) According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 2015, special levy is imposed on
credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on 31st December, 31st March, 30th June
and 30th September on qualifying deposits held by each credit institution.

The total fees charged by the Bank’s statutory auditor for the statutory audit of the annual financial statements
of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to €45.000 exclusive of VAT (2018: €58.000
exclusive of VAT). The total fees charged by the Bank’s statutory auditor for the year ended 31 December
2019 for other assurance services amounted to €15.000, exclusive of VAT (2018: €7.000, exclusive of VAT)
and for tax advisory services amounted to €3.000, exclusive of VAT (2018: €6.000, exclusive of VAT).
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16. INCOME TAX

(a) Tax recognised in profit or loss:

2019 2018
€ €

Current tax:
- Corporation tax 5.000 -
Withholding tax - 90.768
Total current tax 5.000 90.768
Deferred tax (credit)/charge (67.417) 441.010
Total income tax (credit)/charge (62.417) 531.778

The tax on the Bank’s (loss)/profit before the tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
applicable tax rate as follows:

2019 2018

€ €

(Loss)/profit before tax (1.463.013) 3.541.472

Tax calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate of 12,5% (182.877) 442.684

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 245.487 220.029
Tax effect of allowances and income not subject to tax (125.027) (221.703)

Withholding tax - 90.768

Income tax (credit)/charge (62.417) 531.778

A 0000 0000202020202 ST
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16.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(a) Tax recognised in profit or loss (continued):

The Bank is subject to income tax on taxable profits, at the rate of 12,5%.

As from tax year 2012 brought forward losses of only five years may be utilised.

From 1 January 2009 onwards, under certain conditions, interest may be exempt from income tax and be
subject only to special contribution for defence at the rate of 10%; increased to 15% as from 31 August 2011,

and to 30% as from 29 April 2013.

In certain cases dividends received from abroad may be subject to special contribution for defence at the rate
of 15%; increased to 17% as from 31 August 2011; increased to 20% as from 1 January 2012; reduced to 17%
as from 1 January 2014. In certain cases dividends received from 1 January 2012 onwards from other Cyprus
tax resident companies may also be subject to special contribution for defence.

Gains on disposal of qualifying titles (including shares, bonds, debentures, rights thereon etc) are exempt from
Cyprus income tax.

(b) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities
Difference

between
depreciation Revaluation
and wear and  of land and

tear allowance buildings Total

€ € €

At 1 January 2018 409.078 1.325.936  1.735.014
(Credited) to:

Profit or loss (7.799) - (7.799)
At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 401.279 1.325.936  1.727.215
Charged to:

Profit or loss 91.080 - 91.080

At 31 December 2019 492.359 1.325936  1.818.295
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16.

INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Deferred income tax assets

Tax losses Total

€ €

At 1 January 2018 A 6.717.709  6.717.709
Charged to:

Profit or loss (448.809) (448.809)
At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 6.268.900  6.268.900
Credited to:

Profit or loss 158.498 158.498
At 31 December 2019 6.427.398  6.427.398

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The assessment of the recognition of a deferred tax
asset is a critical judgement, given the inherent uncertainties associated with projecting profitability over a long
time period. The Bank performed its assessment for the recoverability of the deferred tax asset as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 taking into account the Bank’s actual and historic performance, the key objectives
of the Bank’s strategy, the macroeconomic environment in Cyprus, the impact of tax legislations enacted as at
the reporting date and the detailed financial business plan approved by the Board, up to the end of 2024.

The financial projections have taken into account the key objectives of the Bank’s strategy which are set out
below:

Manage the level of NPEs loans;

Maintain an appropriate capital position by internally generating capital;
Expansion in the Cyprus market; and

Deliver value to its shareholder.

The key assumptions taken into consideration, amongst others, include the following:

e Increase in new loan originations mainly through referrals of the parent Bank;

e Improvement in net interest income, mainly driven by the increase of loans to deposits ratio, reduction in
the deposits cost and management of liquidity surplus;

e Increase in fee and commission income; and

e  Sustainment of the cost of risk, supported by asset quality improvement and growth of the Cyprus economy.

The above assumptions are based on both internal and external information for attributing a value to each key
assumption in the deferred tax asset forecasts.

The internal key variables include, amongst others, the Bank’s strategy, plans and planned actions for (i)
expansion of certain business lines and income streams, (ii) capital and liquidity management, (iii) cost
management, (iv) cost of funding and (v) pricing of deposits and loans.
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16.

17.

INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (continued)
Deferred income tax assets (continued)

External key variables mainly include the interest rate evolution which impacts the business activity of the Bank,
the Cypriot macroeconomic performance unemployment levels, tourist industry and the changes in the
regulatory framework.

The recoverability assessment performed at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 did not result in an
impairment loss.

The Bank has performed sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 on the following
key assumptions of DTA recoverability assessment for years 2020-2024 (and 2019-2023 respectively). The table
below shows the impact on DTA carrying value from the below described sensitivity analysis.

Impact on deferred tax asset
carrying amount

2019 2018
€ €

Key assumption
Reduction of yield on customer loans and advances by 20 bps (123.532) -
Increase in cost of customer deposits by 20 bps 277.327) -
Increase of ECL cost by 20 bps on gross loans - -
Increase of yield on customer loans and advances by 20 bps - -
Lower new loans origination by 20% of the forecasted growth (247.568) -

CASH, BALANCES AND MANDATORY DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANK OF CYPRUS

2019 2018

€ €

Cash in hand 13.247.095 12.951.446
Balances with the Central Bank of Cyprus:

- due within three months 42.087.143 18.760.843
Total gross 55.334.238 31.712.289
ECL (45.642) (12.131)
Total: net of ECL 55.288.596 31.700.158

Cash and balances with central banks are classified as current.

Mandatory deposits with central banks represent the minimum level of average monthly deposits which the
Bank is required to maintain. Mandatory balances with central banks can be withdrawn at any time provided
the average monthly minimum deposits are maintained.

Analysed as:
2019 2018
€ €
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus 49.202.111 25.931.937
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank of Cyprus 6.086.485 5.768.221
55.288.596 31.700.158

s=mmmm——mmesm—— 0 Seesee——wee————
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18.

19.

DEPOSITS WITH OTHER BANKS

2019

€

Interbank accounts 39.011.436
Money market placements -
Total gross 39.011.436
ECL (182.528)
Total: net of ECL 38.828.908

The maturity of the above balances is presented below:

2019

€

Due within three months 38.833.314
Between three months and one year 178.122
Total gross 39.011.436
ECL (182.528)
38.828.908

Total: net of ECL

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.

2018
€

25.373.956
6.707.561

32.081.517

(136.654)

31.944.863

2018
€

31.906.755
174.762

32.081.517
(136.654)

31.944.863

E— e

Placements with bank bear interest which is based on the interbank rate of the relevant term and currency.

Deposits with other banks are classified as “financial assets at amortised cost™.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

The subsidiary company and its principal activity are described below:

2019
Name Participation  Principal activities €
National Securities Cyprus 100% Dormant company 1.709
Limited

National Securities Cyprus Limited is registered and operates in Cyprus.

2018

1.709
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20.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Loans and advances to customers — at amortised cost
Hire purchase and leasing debtors — at amortised cost

Total: gross

Credit loss allowance for loans and advances to customers (Note 22)

Total: net of impairment allowance

2019
€

253.333.758
16.423

253.350.181

(12.985.218)

240.364.963

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

2018
€

276.860.425
21.106

276.881.531

(15.897.453)

260.984.078

Details regarding transfer of certain of the Bank’s loans to CAC Coral Ltd (entity under common control)
during December 2018, are disclosed in Note 38 (iv) and transfer of certain of the Bank’s loans to the Cyprus
branch of the parent bank during 2018 and 2019 are disclosed in Notes 38(vi) and 38(i) respectively.

The analysis of gross advances based on their remaining contractual maturity at 31 December is presented

below:

Due within three months

Between three months and one year

Between one and five years
Over five years

Total: Gross

The analyses of advances by industry sector is presented below:

Trade and services
Construction
Manufacturing
Tourism

Retail

Other

Total: Gross

Analysis by geographical area:

Cyprus
Greece
Other countries

Total: Gross

2019 2018

€ €
122.875.534 125.896.220
8.827.426 12.727.411
41.861.292 61.158.150
79.785.929 77.099.750
253.350.181 276.881.531
2019 2018

€ €
102.234.933 124.502.416
34.619.620 46.939.675
22.468.017 19.315.832
9.592.520 11.164.600
59.724.628 55.659.145
24.710.463 19.299.863
253.350.181 276.881.531
2019 2018

€ €
243.303.151 265.617.301
3.915.514 3.161.513
6.131.516 8.102.717
253.350.181 276.881.531

The fair value of loans and other advances to customers approximates their carrying amount at the balance
sheet date. Loans and advances to customers are categorized as “financial assets at amortised cost”.
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21. BALANCES WITH RELATED BANKS

(a) Deposits with related banks

National Bank of Greece S.A. (parent bank)
ECL

Total: net of ECL

The maturity of the above balances is presented below:

Due within three months
ECL

Total: net of ECL

2019
€

186.661.908
(800.183)

185.861.725

2019
€

186.661.908
(800.183)

—————————

185.861.725

e

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.

(b) Deposits from related banks

National Bank of Greece S.A. (parent bank)

The maturity of the above balances is presented below.

Due within three months

2019
€

4.828.072

4.828.072

2019
€

4.828.072

4.828.072

e

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.

2018
€

175.424.289
(747.257)

174.677.032

s ]

2018
€

175.424.289
(747.257)

174.677.032

2018
€

809.138

809.138

2018
€

809.138

809.138
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22. CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE ON LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

€
Balance at 1 January 2018 - Restated for IFRS 9 299.238.471
(2.376.775)

Reversal of impairment losses for the year
Write offs against provisions
Provisions on transferred portfolio (Note 38)

(10.461.617)
(271.370.932)

Provision on accrued interest for interest income not recognized 868.306
Balance at 31 December 2018 (Note 20) 15.897.453
Reversal of impairment losses for the year (83.303)
Write offs against provisions (39.724)
Provisions relating to transferred portfolio (Note 38) (3.078.558)
Provision on accrued interest for interest income not recognised 289.350
Balance at 31 December 2019 (Note 20) 12.985.218
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
2019 2018
€ €

Provision for impairment of loans and advances to customers —

(reversal) (83.303) (2.376.775)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Bank has not written off any loans and advances that are
subject to enforcement rights.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS - INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

(@ Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCTI) comprise the
following:
2019 2018
€ €
Listed equity securities:
Master Card International Incorporation 5.618.359 3.446.805
Unlisted equity securities:
JCC Payment Systems Ltd 1.044.488 972.560
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 6.662.847 4.419.365
The movement of financial assets at FVOCI is as follows:
2019 2018
€ €
Carrying amount at 1 January 4.419.365 4.879.028
Net gain from changes in fair value recognised in OCI 2.243.482 763.970
Disposal - (1.223.633)
Carrying amount at 31 December 6.662.847 4.419.365
(b) Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) comprise the following:
2019 2018
€ €
Listed equity securities:
Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd 5.212 6.434
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5.212 6.434
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24.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debts investments:

Cyprus government bonds and treasury bills
ECL

Total: net of ECL

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange
ECL

Total: net of ECL

The maturity of the above investments is presented below:

Within three months
Between one and five years
Over five years

Total: Gross carrying amount
ECL

Total: net of ECL

The movement of financial assets at amortised cost is as follows:

At 1 January

Additions

Maturities and redemptions
Interest accrued (Note 6)
Interest received

ECL

At 31 December

2019
€

146.946.453
(159.357)

146.787.096

2019
€

146.946.453
(159.357)

146.787.096

ET————

2019
€

86.065.069
24.693.799
36.187.585

146.946.453
(159.357)

146.787.096

2019
€

150.366.162
366.153.343
(369.878.000)
1.379.008
(1.074.060)

(159.357)

146.787.096

2018
€

150.488.352
(122.190)

150.366.162

2018
€

150.488.352
(122.190)

150.366.162

2018
€

106.684.045
20.707.036
23.097.271

150.488.352
(122.190)

150.366.162

2018
€

123.084.236
453.965.940
(425.788.000)

580.937
(1.354.761)
(122.190)

150.366.162

eememm———
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25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land, Motor Furniture and Total
Buildings and Vehicles equipment
installations
€ € € €
Cost or valuation
1 January 2018 10.098.813 204.659 4.434.553 14.738.025
Additions - 1.990 22.871 24.861
Write offs/disposals - (12.927) (4.230) (17.157)
31 December 2018/1 January 2019 10.098.813 193.722 4.453.194 14.745.729
Additions - - 52.509 52.509
Write offs/disposals - - (15.191) (15.191)
Revaluation 215.000 - - 215.000
31 December 2019 10.313.813 193.722 4.490.512 14.998.047
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2018 - 191.524 3.902.992 4.094.516
Charge for the year 103.258 3.962 175.465 282.685
Revaluation - (12.927) (4.127) (17.054)
31 December 2018/1 January 2019 103.258 182.559 4.074.330 4.360.147
Charge for the year 103.258 3.853 160.558 267.669
Write offs/disposals - - (15.191) (15.191)
31 December 2019 206.516 186.412 4.219.697 4.612.625
Net book value
31 December 2019 10.107.297 7.310 270.815 10.385.422
9.995.555 11.163 378.864  10.385.582

31 December 2018

Fair value measurement of the Bank’s freehold land and buildings

The Bank’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
The fair value measurements of the Bank’s land and buildings are performed by independent valuers not
related to the Bank. The valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the fair value
measurement of properties in the relevant locations. The fair value of the properties was determined using
the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties and discounted
cash flow approach that reflects the annual return or potential return of the investor from the property held.
The fair value of the land and buildings has been determined at the average value based on the valuations

carried out by the Bank’s two independent property valuers.

The Bank adopted a valuation technique using unobservable inputs. Accordingly, the fair value was classified
as Level 3.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

The valuation levels are defined as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

- Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Details of the Bank’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December

are as follows:
Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical assets observable unobservable
(level 1)  inputs (level 2) inputs (level 3) Total
2019 2019 2019 2019
€ € € €
Land - - 6.750.000 6.750.000
Buildings - - 3.227.500 3.227.500
- - 9.977.500 9.977.500
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical assets observable unobservable
(level 1)  inputs (level 2)  inputs (level 3) Total
2018 2018 2018 2018
€ € € €
Land - - 6.535.000 6.535.000
Buildings - - 3.227.500 3.227.500
- - 9.762.500 9.762.500

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

— 31 December 2019

Fair value at 31

December 2019
€ Valuation
Description technique(s)
Land and office Land Office Market comparable
building - building approach
Nicosia 6.247.500 3.052.500

Unobservable
inputs

Price per square
meter

Range of

unobservable

inputs Relationship of
(probability ~ unobservable
weighted inputs to

average) fair values
Approximately The higher the price

€350 - €650 for

per square meter, the

basements, €4.500 higher the fair value

for ground floor
and mezzanine
(new building) and
€8.300 for ground
floor and
mezzanine
(preserved
building)
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25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Details of the Bank’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December
2019 are as follows:

Range of
Rental unobservable
value Discount Unobservable inputs Relationship ef
Fair value at 31 € rate inputs (probability — unobservable
December 2019  Valuation weighted inputs to
Description € technique(s) average) fair values
Land and Land Office Market - - Price per square  €1.500 for The higher the price
office building comparable meter mezzanine floor per square meter, the
building - 502.500 175.000 approach and €3.900 for  higher the fair value.
Larnaca ground floor
Discounted 45.000 6,5% Discount rate The higher the
cash flow discount rate, the
approach lower the fair value

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) — 31 December
2018

Range of
unobservable
Fair value at 31 inputs Relationship of
December 2018 (probability — unobservable
€ Valuation Unobservable weighted inputs to
Description technique(s) inputs average) fair values
Land and office Land Office Market comparable Price per square  Approximately The higher the price
building — Nicosia building approach meter €350-€650 for per square meter, the
6.032.500 3.052.500 basements, €4.500 higher the fair value

for ground floor
and mezzanine
(new building) and
€8.000 for ground
floor and
mezzanine
(preserved
building)
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25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Range of
Rental unobservable
value Discount Unobservable inputs Relationship of
Fair value at 31 € rate inputs (probability — unobservable
December 2018  Valuation weighted inputs to
Description € technique(s) average) fair values
Land Office Market €1.500 for
building comparable - - Price per mezzanine floor The higher the price per
Land and office  502.500 175.000 approach square meter and €3.900 for  square meter, the higher
building - ground floor the fair value
Larnaca Discounted
cash flow 45.000 6,50% Discount rate - The higher the discount
approach rate, the lower the fair
value

26. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

This note provides information for leases where the Bank is a lessee. The Bank has no leases where it is the lessor.

(i) The Bank’s leasing arrangements

The Company leases various offices and branches. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years
to 8 years, but may have extension options.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by

the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
(ii) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

1 January
2019 2019
€ €

Right-of-use assets
3.054.955 4.998.072

Buildings

Total 3.054.955 4.998.072
Lease liabilities

Current 754.035 787.409
Non-current 2.390.231 4.210.663
Total 3.144.266 4.998.072

There were no additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 financial year.
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26. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (continued)
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2019
€

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings 807.453
Total 807.453
Interest expense (included in finance cost) 127.075
Total 127.075

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was €779.079.
27. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2019 2018
€ €
Balance at 1 January 4.206.500 4.206.500
Fair value loss (Note 11) (202.000) -
Balance at 31 December 4.004.500 4.206.500

The Bank’s investment property is measured at fair value. Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or
loss.

The fair value measurement of the Bank’s investment property as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018 has been derived on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by independent
valuers not related to the Bank. The valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair value was determined based on the market

comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties and discounted cash flow
approach that reflects the annual return or potential return of the investor from the property held.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the land and buildings has been determined at the average
value based on the valuations carried out by the Bank’s two independent property valuers.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

Details of the Bank’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December
are as follows:
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27. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Level 3 Fair value

2019 2019

€ €

Land 2.200.000 2.200.000
Buildings 1.804.500 1.804.500
4.004.500 4.004.500

Level 3 Fair value

2018 2018

€ €

Land 2.150.000 2.150.000
Buildings 2.056.500 2.056.500
4.206.500 4.206.500

Information about fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) — 31 December 2019

Range of
unobservable
Fair value at 31 December inputs
2019 Valuation Rental Discount (probability —  Relationship of
€ technique value rate Unobservable weighted unobservable
Description € % inputs average) inputs to fair values
Land and Land Office Market - - Price per Approximately The higher the price per
office building building comparable square meter €180 for Square meter, the
— Limassol 2.200.00 1.804.500 approach basement, Higher the fair value
€3.000 - €3.100
for ground
floor and €850
- €1.150 for
mezzanine
floor
Discounted 160.740 5% Discount rate - The higher the discount
cash flows Rate, the lower the
fair value

approach




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019

27.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

Information about fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) — 31 December 2018

Fair value at 31 December
2018 Valuation
€ technique

Description

Land and Office Market

office building Land Building comparable

~ Limassol 2.150.000 2.056.500 approach
Discounted
cash flows
approach

28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2018
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount .
Additions

Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2018

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

Rental Discount

value
€

168.360

rate
%

5%

Unobservable
inputs

Price per
square meter

Discount rate

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(probability -
weighted
average)

Approximately
€178 for
basement,
€3.300 for
ground floor
and €900-1.200
for mezzanine
floor

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair values

The higher the price per
square meter, the higher
the fair value

The higher the discount
rate, the lower the
fair value

Computer
software
€

11.202.412
(6.221.426)

4.980.986

4.980.986
248.291
(511.665)

4.717.612

11.450.703
(6.733.091)

4.717.612

————————

4.717.612
870.983
(546.384)

5.042.211
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28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

At 31 December 2019

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

29. OTHER ASSETS

Financial assets
Debtors and other receivables
Fair value of derivatives (1)

Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses

Total other assets

(1) Forward foreign exchange contracts

2019
€

4.512.545
34.299

4.546.844

————

278.847

4.825.691

Computer
software
€

12.321.686
(7.279.475)

5.042.211

2018
€

2.175.059
21.975

2.197.034

303.177

2.500.211

The nominal value of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2019 was

€2 million (2018: €1.7 million).
30. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS

Interbank borrowing

The maturity of the above balances is presented below:

Due within three months
Between three months and one year
Due within one and five years

2019 2018

€ €
16.944.584 8.359.964
2019 2018

€ €
6.618.489 5.886.538
10.326.095 2.473.426
16.944.584 8.359.964

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.
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31.

32.

DEPOSITS AND OTHER CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS

Time and notice accounts
Demand and current accounts
Savings accounts

Analysis by geographical area

Cyprus
Greece
Other countries

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.

The above mentioned balances maturity is presented below:

Due within three months
Between three months and one year

OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to suppliers

Receipts on behalf of third parties

Cheques — drafts payable

Fair value of derivatives

Other liabilities

Provisions for Off-Balance Sheet exposures

Non-financial liabilities

Provision for staff unpaid leave

Value added tax payable

Provisions for litigations, claims and complaints

Total other liabilities

2019 2018

€ €
263.624.666 312.145.599
220.752.502 179.381.298
113.205.160 95.918.415
597.582.328 587.445.312
2019 2018

€ €
475.703.078 446.633.237
80.493.912 101.076.810
41.385.338 39.735.265
597.582.328 587.445.312
2019 2018

€ €
495.704.375 487.305.300
101.877.953 100.140.012
597.582.328 587.445.312
2019 2018

€ €

414.421 2.117.347
713.674 579.117
1.046.473 998.470
1.304 -
5.206.273 4.986.825
286.516 333.217
7.668.661 9.014.976
556.425 86.051
316.645 150.861
160.763 1.121.781
1.033.833 1.358.693
8.702.494 10.373.669
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33. SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018
Shares € Shares €
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of Euro 1,71 each 30.000.000 51.300.000 30.000.000 51.300.000
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of Euro 1,71 each 30.000.000 51.300.000 30.000.000 51.300.000
34. REVALAUTION RESERVES
Financial
Land and assets at
buildings FVTOCI Total
€ € €
Balance at 1 January 2018 8.182.266 3.845.209 12.027.475
Gain from change in fair value - 763.970 763.970
Balance at 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 8.182.266 4.609.179 12.791.445
Balance at 1 January 2019
Gains from changes in fair value (Note 23 &
Note 25) 215.000 2.243.482 2.458.482
Balance at 31 December 2019 8.397.266 6.852.661 15.249.927

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The nominal value of the contingencies and commitments as at 31 December are presented below:

2019 2018

€ €

Acceptances and Endorsements 1.130.781 1.174.186
Letters of Guarantee 18.531.597 18.650.195
Letters of Credit 2.373.563 2.144.195

Customers’ credit limits that have been approved but have not been used 97.175.340  102.053.499

119.211.281 124.022.075

Letters of credit and guarantees are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties.

Pending litigations and claims

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 there were pending litigations against the Bank in
connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Board of Directors believes that there is
adequate defence against all claims and it is not possible that the Bank will suffer any significant damage
over and above any amounts already provided as disclosed in Note 32. Provision amounts recognized
primarily relate to outstanding industrial and/or trade union disputes in relation to which the Bank expects
economic outflows that approximate the provision amounts recognized. The Bank is unable to reliably
estimate the exact timing of such outflows, the majority of which depend on the timing of final court
decisions whose determination is by nature uncertain.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

35.

36.

37.

Operating lease commitments

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Bank had no operating lease commitments under a non-

cancellable operating lease.

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before taxation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Provision for unused vacation

(Reversal of impairment losses) on loans and advances to customers
Profit from derivative financial instruments

Loss on revaluation of investment property

Dividend income

Interest income on debt securities

Impairment loss on other financial assets at amortised cost
Profit on disposal of equity investment

Loss from fair value through profit or loss equity investment

Decrease in loans and other advances to customers

Increase in deposits and other customer accounts

(Increase) in deposits with other banks

(Increase)/decrease in obligatory balances with Central Bank of
Cyprus

Increase in deposits from other banks

Increase in deposits from related banks

(Increase)/decrease in other assets

Decrease in other liabilities

Net cash generated from operations
Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand (Note 17)

Non-obligatory balances with Central Bank of Cyprus
Deposits with related banks — due within three months
Deposits with other banks — due within three months

Note

25
26
28

22

27
10

13
12
11

2019 2018
€ €
(1.463.013)  3.541.472
267.669 282.685
807.453 -
546.384 511.665
16.512 13.105
(83.303)  (2.376.775)
(11.019) (13.039)
202.000 -
(88.659)  (130.288)
(1.379.008)  (580.937)
37.168 122.190
- (357.694)
1.222 3.733
(1.146.594)  1.016.117
20.702.418  21.267.893
10.137.016  14.755.702
(3.360) (7.912)
(318.264) 75.309
8.584.620  (1.377.046)
4.018.934  (12.597.574)
(2.325.480) 691.770
(1.671.175)  (374.510)
37.978.115  23.449.749
- (90.768)
37.978.115  23.358.981
2019 2018
€ €
13.247.095 12.951.446
36.000.658 12.992.622
186.661.908  175.424.289
38.833.314 31.906.755
274.742.975  233.275.112

For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, the maturities of cash equivalents relating to the
balances with related and other banks and with the Central Bank of Cyprus, are based on their original

contractual maturity.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The parent and ultimate holding company (and also the Ultimate Controlling Party) of the Bank is National
Bank of Greece S.A., a company registered in Greece, which prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use. The consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Greece S.A. are
available at the National Bank of Greece S.A, website (www.nbg.gr) and its registered office is located
at Eolou 86, 10232 Athens, Greece.

Details of transactions between the Bank and other related parties are disclosed below.

Trading transactions

During the year, the Bank entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

Interest & other Interest & other
income expense
2019 2018 2019 2018
€ € € €
National Bank of Greece S.A. — parent bank 1.962.036 1.240.704 169.337 1.225.993
L]
Subsidiaries of National Bank of Greece S.A 878.620 1.024.033 886.850 851.984

Balances with related companies

The following balances were payable to related parties at the end of the reporting period:

2019 2018
€ €
Deposits and other customer accounts
National Securities S.A.-related party under common control 12.463 332.938
NBG Management Services Limited-related party under common control 2.365.159 1.234.578
Ethniki Insurance (Cyprus) Limited-related party under common control 4.966.012 5.403.653
Ethniki General Insurance (Cyprus) Limited-related party under common
control 3.772.666  4.071.217
National Securities (Cyprus) Limited-subsidiary 1.912 1.912
Quadratix Limited-related party under common control - 1.056.410
CAC Coral Limited — related party under common control 3.365.843 1.341.460

14.484.055 13.442.168

Deposits with and from related banks are presented in Note 21 to the financial statements.
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38.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Other transactions

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

On 31 December 2019, the Bank assigned to the Cyprus branch of the parent bank loans and
advances to customers of net book value €12,2 (with gross amount €15.2 and ECL provisions €3.0)
million for consideration of an equivalent amount, at no gain, no loss.

The parent company, National Bank of Greece S.A., had issued a letter of guarantee of €15,9
million in favour of the Bank that supported the recoverability of the outstanding loan granted to
NBG Leasing IFN S.A. The guarantee expired on 31 July 2018 and was renewed until 31 July
2019. The remaining amount of €10,4 million was secured through a cash collateral lien agreement

with the parent company (see below).

As of 31 December 2018, the loan to NBG Leasing IFN S.A. of €26m was transferred to CAC
Coral Ltd (entity under common control). As of 31 December 2017, the Bank had in place lien
agreements from National Bank of Greece S.A., which acted as guarantees for the purposes of
securing the following assets as at the reporting date.

Based on the lien agreements in case of default of any of the issuers of the underlying assets, the
Bank could set off the receivable amounts with the equivalent funds placed by National Bank of

Greece S.A.
On 21 December 2018, most of the Bank’s Stage 3 loan portfolio with a net book value of

€167.5m was transferred to CAC Coral Limited (entity under common control), at no gain, no loss.
Out of the total consideration of €167.5 million, an amount of €70 million was not settled in cash,

but via a decrease in retained earnings.

As part of the agreement for the aforementioned transfer of loan portfolio the Bank initially
borrowed €97.65 million from the parent company and subsequently this loan was assigned to CAC
Coral Limited.

On 12 January 2018, the Bank disposed its share in National Insurance (Cyprus) Limited for an
amount of €1.581.327 to an entity under common control realising a gain on disposal of €357.694
(Note 12).

On 19 December 2018, the Bank assigned to the Cyprus branch of the parent bank loans and
advances to customers of net book value €9 million, for consideration of an equivalent amount, at
no gain, no loss.

Key management personnel related transactions

2019 2018
€ €
Loans and advances to members of the Board of
Directors and connected persons 6353 1.420
Deposits of members of the Board of Directors and
connected persons 84.522 103.543
- 20

Interest expense




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

38.

39.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(vii)  Key management personnel related transactions (continued)

Connected persons include spouses, minor children and companies in which Directors or key
management personnel hold, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting shares.

All transactions with members of the Board of Directors and their connected persons are made on
normal business terms as for comparable transactions with customers of a similar credit standing. All
transactions with key management personnel are made on the same terms as those applicable to the

rest of the Bank’s employees.

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as

follows:

2019 2018

€ €

Fees paid to Directors as members of the Board 86.588 78.000
Executive Directors emoluments

Salaries and other short-term benefits 145.690 218.287

Employer’s contributions 6.116 7.777

151.806 226.064

Total compensation 238.394 304.064

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE BANK

The Cypriot economy has recorded further positive growth in 2019 after overcoming the economic
recession of recent years. However, on 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the
Coronavirus COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic in recognition of its rapid spread across the globe. Many
governments are taking increasingly stringent steps to help contain, and in many jurisdictions, now delay,
the spread of the virus, including: requiring self-isolation/quarantine by those potentially affected,
implementing social distancing measures, and controlling or closing border and “locking-down”
cities/regions or even entire countries. These measures have slowed down the economies both in Cyprus
but globally as well with the potential of having wider impacts on the respective economies as the measures

persist for a greater period of time.

This operating environment may have a significant impact on the Bank’s operations and financial position.
Management is taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank’s operations. However, the
future effects of the current economic situation are difficult to predict and management’s current
expectations and estimates could differ from actual results.

For more information as management’s assessment and plans in relation to COVID — 19 refer to Note 42.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Bank’s overall risk management policies focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise the potential adverse effects on the Bank’s
financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from loans and advances to banks, customers and loan
commitments, but can also arise from financial guarantees, investments in debt securities and other
exposures resulting from its trading activities including derivatives, other financial assets and balance with

central banks.

The Bank has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient
collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Bank’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are regularly monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by
counterparty limits approved by the Bank and which are reviewed and approved at least on an annual basis.

The loan portfolio is assessed on the basis of customer creditworthiness, the sector of the economy in which
the customer operates and the country of operation and is regularly examined by the Bank’s Internal Audit

department.
Credit concentration risk

Credit concentration risk arises from exposures to each counterparty, groups of connected counterparties,
and counterparties in the same economic sector, geographic region or from the same activity. The following
categories of credit concentration risk are recognized by the Bank:

- Single-name concentrations (including group of connected clients);

- Industry concentrations;
- Geographical concentrations;
- Collateral and guarantees concentration.

For the purposes of managing and monitoring concentration risks the Bank has established appropriate
limits, a monitoring and reporting framework as well as appropriate measures and methodologies for the

allocation of capital as mitigant.
Maximum exposure to credit risk and collateral and other credit enhancements

The main types of collateral obtained by the Bank for loans and advances to customers are mortgages of
properties, blocked deposits, bank guarantees, pledges of equity securities of public companies, fixed and
floating charges over corporate assets, assignment of life insurance policies and personal and corporate

guarantees.

Collateral held as security for other financial assets is determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt
securities and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)

Forborne exposures

The credit tools commonly used by the Bank to manage liquidity problems faced by its clients in the
repayment of their debts is the restructuring of their finances by renegotiating the current terms of the loan

agreement.

Regulation EU no. 575/2013 established the framework for prudential requirements on the management by
credit institutions of loans arrears and non-performing loans.

The European Banking Authority (EBA) published in 2014 its technical standards with respect to non-
performing and forborne exposures. Exposures include all debt instruments (loans and advances and debt
securities) and off-balance sheet exposures, except those held for trading exposures.

According to the EBA technical standards, forborne exposures are those debt contracts in respect of which
forbearance measures have been extended. Forbearance measures consist of concessions towards a debtor
(including part of total refinancing of a debt contract) which aim to address existing or anticipated
difficulties on the part of the debtor to service debt in accordance with the current repayment schedule.
Changes in the terms and conditions of a contract that do not occur because the customer is not able to meet
the terms and conditions of the contract due to financial difficulties do not constitute forbearance measures.

The most significant prerequisite for the forbearance of an exposure is the existence of customer repayment
ability i.e. the customer is viable.

The forbearance measures to be taken and their duration thereof are determined on the basis of specific
customer information, based on the prevailing economic conditions and in accordance with relevant

legislation or regulatory Directives.

Every effort is being taken by the Bank for the proper assessment of the new repayment schedule on the
basis of the forbearance measures, in order to avoid a new default.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)

Forborne exposures (continued)

The below tables present the Bank’s forborne exposures in accordance with the EBA technical standards,
the tangible and measurable collateral and other credit enhancements held and the net exposure to credit

risk.
Maximum
exposure to Fair value of Net exposure to
credit risk collateral credit risk
€ € €
2019
Stage 2 16.445.574 15.516.572 929.002
Stage 3 27.500.311 26.027.863 1.472.448
43.945.885 41.544.435 2.401.450
Maximum
exposure to Fair value of Net exposure to
credit risk collateral credit risk
€ € €
2018
Stage 2 24.057.248 23.610.224 447.024
Stage 3 29.760.686 28.241.973 1.518.713
53.817.934 51.852.197 1.965.737

According to the Central Bank of Cyprus directive on Loan Impairment and Provisions Practices (February
2014), the credit institutions are obliged to publish Tables A and B as presented below.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised

costs, cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks.

The Bank considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of financial asset at amortised cost and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Bank compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following

indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating;
- external credit rating (as far as available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower/counterparty;
- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower/counterparty;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party
guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower/counterparty, including
changes in the payment status of counterparty and changes in the operating results of the
borrower.

Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the

internal rating model. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information

on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Bank has

identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these

factors.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30
days past due in making a contractual payment.

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of
when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing
to engage in a repayment plan with the Bank. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Bank
continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are

made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

The Bank uses three categories for loans, receivables, other receivables, debt securities at FVOCI which
reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of those categories. These internal
credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit rating companies, such as Standard and Poor, Moody’s and

Fitch.

80




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Company’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category Company definition of category | Basis for recognition of Basis for calculation
expected credit loss provision of interest revenue
Performing Counterparties have a low risk of | Stage 1: 12 month expected Gross carrying
default and a strong capacity to losses. Where the expected amount
meet contractual cash flows. lifetime of an asset is less than 12

months, expected losses are
measured at its expected lifetime.

Underperforming Counterparties for which there | Stage 2: Lifetime expected losses | Gross carrying
is a significant increase in credit amount

risk; as significant increase in
credit risk is presumed if interest
and/or principal repayments are
30 days past due (see above in
more detail) as well as any
breach on the recorded 12 month
and lifetime PD thresholds and
ratings downgrades. In addition
the forbearance status is

considered.

Non-performing Interest and/or principal Stage 3: Lifetime expected losses | Amortised cost
repayments are 90 days past due. carrying amount (net
Also the contamination rule of credit allowance)

(pulling effect) is in place with

regards to corporate portfolio.

Over the term of the loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised cost, cash and balance with
Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks, the Bank accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates,
the Bank considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, and adjusts for forward looking

macroeconomic data.

The Bank provides for credit losses against loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised cost,
cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks. The following tables
contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of each class of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance
is recognised. The gross carrying amounts below also represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk
on these assets as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

The following tables analyse the Bank’s loans and advances in accordance with internal credit rating category.
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40.
a)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Loans and advances to customers

Bank’s internal credit rating

Al
A2
B1
B2
C1
C2
D1
D2
El
E2
F
Total as at 31 December 2019

Bank’s internal credit rating

Al
A2
Bl
B2
C1
C2
D1
D2
El
E2
F
Total as at 31 December 2018

Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying amount (net of
amount allowance impairment provision)

€ € €
70.351.067 200.259 70.150.808
22.486.064 117.862 22.368.202
26.417.014 286.459 26.130.555
10.060.174 78.042 9.982.132
24.518.632 75.106 24.443.526
12.534.922 148.755 12.386.167
11.445.394 127.554 11.317.840
14.475.091 667.510 13.807.581
11.143.653 1.595.325 9.548.328
9.248.203 161.482 9.086.721
40.669.967 9.526.864 31.143.103
253.350.181 12.985.218 240.364.963
Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying amount (net of
amount allowance impairment provision)

€ € €
65.134.435 303.420 64.831.015
32.984.691 209.943 32.774.748
17.910.409 175.364 17.735.045
12.048.323 126.136 11.922.187
29.396.029 154.006 29.242.023
7.891.502 84.633 7.806.869
6.459.796 600.498 5.859.298
13.385.829 115.281 13.270.548
28.972.560 3.697.052 25.275.508
26.638.369 366.177 26.272.192
36.059.588 10.064.943 25.994.645
276.881.531 15.897.453 260.984.078
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40.

a)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus

Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) € impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,100% 42.087.143 (45.642) 42.041.501
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2019 42.087.143 (45.642) 42.041.501
Due from other and related banks
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) (€) impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,468% 244.690.633 (982.711) 223.707.922
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2019 244.690.633 (982.711) 223.707.922
Financial assets at amortised cost — Cyprus Government bonds and treasury bills
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) (€) impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,108% 146.946.453 (159.357) 146.787.096
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2019 146.946.453 (159.357) 146.787.096
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40.

a)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Loans and advances to customers

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus

Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) € impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,065% 18.760.843 (12.131) 18.748.712
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2018 18.760.843 (12.131) 18.748.712
Due from other and related banks
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) (€) impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,426% 207.505.806 (883.911) 206.621.895
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2018 207.505.806 (883.911) 206.621.895
Financial assets at amortised cost — Cyprus Government bonds and treasury bills
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) © impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,08% 150.488.352 (122.190) 150.366.162
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31
December 2018 150.488.352 (122.190) 150.366.162
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a borrower as required.
Guarantees which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a
counterparty cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and advances.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans or guarantees. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, if the unused amounts were to be drawn

down.

The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit related commitments, because longer-term commitments

generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

An analysis of credit related commitments by credit quality based on credit risk grades at 31 December

2019 is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(lifetime (lifetime
(12-months ECL for ECL for credit
ECL) SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Issued letters of guarantees/letters
of credit and acceptances and
endorsements 20.955.881 46.952 1.033.430 22.036.263
Provision for issued letters of
guarantees/credit (7.364) - (535) (7.899)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(lifetime (lifetime
(12-months ECL for ECL for credit
ECL) SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Loan commitments - unutilised
credit facilities 95.111.713 1.902.132 161.496 97.175.341
Provision for loan commitments (236.598) (14.759) (27.410) (278.767)
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments (continued)

Movements in the provision for loan commitments were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12- (lifetime (lifetime
months ECL for ECL for credit Total
ECL) SICR) impaired) provision
€ € € €
Provision for loan commitments at
1 January 2019 260.056 20.423 43.873 324.352
Loan commitments (fees charged) (56.170) 8.737 1.847 (45.586)
Movements between stages 32.766 (14.402) (18.364) -
Provision for loan commitments at
31 December 2019 236.652 14.758 27.356 278.766

Movements in the provision for letters of guarantees/credit were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12- (lifetime
months (lifetime ECL ECL for credit Total
ECL) for SICR) impaired) provision
€ € € €
Provision for letters of
guarantees/letters of credit and
acceptances and endorsements at }
1 January 2019 8.865 - - 8.865
Issued guarantees (fees charged) 38 - (1.004) (966)
Other movements (1.539) - 1.539 -

Provision for letters of

guarantees/letters of credit and

acceptances and endorsements at

31 December 2019 7.364 - 535 7.899




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments (continued)

An analysis of credit related commitments by credit quality based on credit risk grades at 31 December 2018
is as follows.

Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage2 (lifetime ECL
(12-months (lifetime ECL for credit
ECL) for SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Issued letters of guarantees/letters of
credit and acceptances and
endorsements 21.790.280 3.442 174.854 21.968.576
Provision for issued letters of
guarantees/credit (8.865) - - (8.865)
Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage2 (lifetime ECL
(12-months (lifetime ECL for credit
ECL) for SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Loan commitments — unutilised credit
facilities 98.670.299 252.510 3.130.690 102.053.499

Provision for loan commitments (260.056) (20.423) (43.873) (324.352)




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments (continued)

Movements in the provision for loan commitments were as follows:

Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 (lifetime  (lifetime ECL
(12-months ECL for for credit Total
ECL) SICR) impaired) provision
€ € € €
Provision for loan commitments at 1 January 2018 267.742 15.484 86.920 370.146
Loan commitments (fees charged) (80.399) 10.141 24.464 (45.794)
Movements between stages 72.713 (5.202) (67.51D) -
Provision for loan commitments at 31 December 2018 260.056 20.423 43.873 324.352

Movements in the provision for letters of guarantees/credit were as follows:

Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 (lifetime  (lifetime ECL
(12-months ECL for for credit Total
ECL) SICR) impaired) provision
€ € € €
Provision for letters of guarantees/letters of credit and
acceptances and endorsements at 1 January 2018 - - - -
Issued guarantees (fees charged) 8.865 - - 8.865
Provision for letters of guarantees/ letters of credit and
acceptances and endorsements at 31 December 2018 8.865 - - 8.865

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines and guarantees does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being

funded.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of the Bank’s assets exposed to credit risk other than loans and other advances to

customers — Analysis by rating agency

Balances with Central Bank of Cyprus and deposits with banks are analysed to Moody’s rating as

follows:

Aaa — Aa3
Al-A3
Baal — Baa3
Bal — Ba2
Caal — Caa3
Unrated

Investments in debt securities, comprising of Cyprus government bonds and treasury bills, are analysed by

Moody’s rating as follows:

Ba2 (2018: Ba2-Ba3)

Issued by:
Cyprus sovereign

Classified as:
Financial assets at amortised cost

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

2019 2018

€ €
11.364.118 5.752.999
23.461.743 25.752.237
3.938.645 398.585
45.524.609 18.748.713
182.378.617 174.677.032
64.401 41.041
266.732.133 225.370.607

2019 2018

€ €
146.787.096 150.366.162
2019 2018

€ €
146.787.096 150.366.162
2019 2018

€ €
146.787.096 150.366.162
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b)  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet current and future payments obligations as and

when they fall due. This risk includes the possibility that the Bank may have to raise funding at a higher
cost or sell assets at a discount.

Bank assets are mainly funded by deposits. The maturity of the deposits is actively monitored in order to
avoid concentration of funding maturities at any point in time. The responsibility for the management of
liquidity rests with the treasury department and the operations and support division.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity requirements, in order to also ensure compliance with the limits set by the

applicable regulatory limits.
Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity

The following liquidity tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank into relevant
maturity groupings based on their remaining contractual maturity at 31 December and is based on

undiscounted cash flows.

Financial assets

The financial assets are presented on the same basis as the one provided to the management of the Bank
and to the Central Bank of Cyprus, as this presentation is considered to be the most appropriate presentation
of the Bank’s liquidity. Accordingly, the analysis of the financial assets does not include any interest

receivable cash flows.

Current accounts, overdrafts and amounts in arrears are included within the first maturity time band which
reflects their contractual maturity. All other loans and advances to customers are analysed according to
their contractual repayment schedule.

Balances with banks are analysed in the time bands according to the number of days remaining from 31
December until their contractual maturity date. Financial assets with no contractual maturity (i.e. equity
securities) are included in the "over 5 years" time band. The investments are classified in the relevant time

band according to their contractual maturity.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities for the repayment of which notice is required, are included in the relevant time bands
as if notice had been given on 31 December. Fixed deposits are classified in time bands based on their

contractual maturity.
Contingent liabilities and commitments

The limits of loans and advances are commitments to provide credit to customers. The limits are granted
for predetermined periods and can be cancelled by the Bank after giving relevant notice to the customers.
Thus, the unutilised credit facilities are included within the first maturity time band.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (continued)

Between 3
Less than Between months Between Over§
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € € € €

2019
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
of Cyprus 37.295.902 7.087.780 7.174.170 3.184.957 545.787 55.288.596
Deposits with banks 224.690.633 - - - - 224.690.633
Loans and advances to customers 117.769.262 5.106.273 8.827.426 41.861.292 66.800.711 240.364.964
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - 5.212 5.212
Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income - - - - 6.662.847 6.662.847
Other financial assets at amortised
costs 81.725.065 4.246.671 - 24.667.020 36.148.340 146.787.096
Other financial assets - 3.406.568 1.140.276 - - 4.546.844

461.480.863 19.847.292  17.141.872  69.713.269  110.162.897 678.346.192

Financial liabilities

Deposits from banks 10.710.471 200.458 771.341 - 10.090.386 21.772.656
Deposits and other customer accounts ~ 426.284.749 69.626.586 101.670.993 - - 597.582.328
Other financial liabilities 1.455.534 - 4.739.636 1.473.491 - 7.668.661

438.450.754 69.827.044 107.181.970 1.473.491 10.090.386 627.023.645

Off-balance sheet items

Acceptances and endorsements 556.501 574.280 - - - 1.130.781
Letters of guarantee 36.477 3.509.102 8.458.807 4.377.128 2.150.083 18.531.597
Letters of credit 20.832 2.220.286 132.445 - - 2.373.563
Amount of unutilised credit facilities 1.403.357 194.071 3.489.186 891.878  91.196.848 97.175.340
2.017.167 6.497.739 12.080.438 5.269.006  93.346.931 119.211.280
Between 3
Less than Between months Between Over$
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € € € €
2018
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
of Cyprus 24.104.386 3.211.155 2931478 1.279.801 173.338 31.700.158
Deposits with banks 206.621.895 - - - - 206.621.895
Loans and advances to customers 119.140.028 6.756.192 12.720.411 60.188.592 62.178.865 260.984.088
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - 6.434 6.434
Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income - - - - 4.419.365 4.419.365
Other financial assets at amortised
costs 51.628.280 54.969.142 - 20.690.223 23.078.517 150.366.162
Other financial assets - 1.646.053 550.981 - - 2.197.034

401.494.589 66.582.542 16.202.870  82.158.616  89.856.519 656.295.136
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (continued)

Between 3
Less than Between months Between Over$S
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € € € €
Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks 5.086.926 - - 1.608.750 2.473.426 9.169.102
Deposits and other customer accounts  400.656.283 86.649.017 100.140.012 - - 587.445.312
Other financial liabilities 1.711.068 - 5.571.730 1.732.178 - 9.014.976

407.454.277 86.649.017 105.711.742 3.340.928 2.473.426 605.629.390

Off-balance sheet items

Acceptances and endorsements 622.703 - 35.401 - 516.082 1.174.186
Letters of guarantee 1.145.511 5.107.024 7.880.171 1.517.675 2.999.814 18.650.195
Letters of credit 1.685.053 - 349.856 - 109.286 2.144.195
Amount of unutilised credit facilities 39.446 4.617.524 190.092  95.562.042 1.644.395 102.053.499

3.492.713 9.724.548 8.455.520  97.079.717 5.269.577 124.022.075

¢) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices. The Bank is exposed primarily to financial
risks emanating from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because

of changes in market interest rates. It arises as a result of timing differences on the interest rate repricing of assets
and liabilities. The Bank monitors on a continuous basis the interest rate movements and the repricing or maturity

structure of its assets and liabilities.

Interest rate risk is measured using interest rate sensitivity gap analysis where the difference between assets and
liabilities repricing in each time band is calculated, separately for each currency. The difference is then multiplied
with the assumed change in interest rates for the period from the repricing date until twelve months from the date
of the analysis, in order to find the annual impact on earnings of any changes in interest rates for the next twelve

months for each currency.

Sensitivity analysis v
The table below indicates the effect on the Bank’s net profit and equity, if interest rates for the main currencies
were 50 basis points higher. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit/equity. For a decrease of

50 basis points there would be an equal and opposite impact on the net profit and equity.
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40.

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2018

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
¢) Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

USD British Other

Euro Dollars Pound Currencies Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Change in interest rates
2019
+50 b.p. in all currencies (1.735) - - Q) (1.736)
2018
+50 b.p. in all currencies (62) - (3%) (20) (120)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises from an open position in a foreign currency,
creating an exposure to a change in the relevant exchange rate. This may arise from the holding of

financial assets in one currency funded by liabilities in another currency.

In order to manage currency risk, the Bank has approved open position limits for each currency. Adherence
to the limits is monitored on a daily basis by the treasury department and the operations and support division.

The table below sets out the Bank’s foreign exchange risk resulting from its open foreign exchange positions.
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit/equity. For a corresponding decrease there would be

an equal and opposite impact on profit/equity.

Change in
Open position exchange rate
€000 %
Currency
2019
US Dollar 52 +5
British Pound Y] +5
Other currencies 1.907 +5
2018
US Dollar 37 +5
British Pound 26 +5
Other currencies 2.320 +5

Impact on
net profit/

equity
€000

0
€2Y)

(6)
2

(455)
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

d) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from fraud, error, omission, systems failure or other external
events. The Bank manages operational risk through the various established policies, limits and written
procedures. The Risk Management Unit, in cooperation with all units and divisions, is responsible for
managing the Bank’s operational risk. Furthermore, this is supported by the reviews undertaken by the

Internal Audit division.

€) Regulatory risk

The operations of the Bank are supervised by the Central Bank of Cyprus. Licensed banking institutions in
Cyprus have to comply with the requirements of both the European Union and Cyprus regulatory
frameworks. Legal or regulatory changes may be introduced in the future either by the European Union
or by the Central Bank of Cyprus which may adversely affect the results and financial position of the Bank.

1] Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

With reference to the above, the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised
at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value:

e Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

o  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.

derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are
recorded at fair value using valuation techniques.

. The fair values of equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income that are
traded on an inactive market are determined with reference to quoted market prices. Unquoted equity
securities are valued using valuation techniques that include inputs from non-observable data. The
non-observable inputs to the models for the valuation of unquoted equity investments include
assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic
assumptions regarding the industry in which the investee operates.

. The fair values of derivative instruments are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

40.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

D Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The following table provides the Bank’s financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is

observable.

2019

Financial assets at FYTPL
Derivative financial assets
Equities

Financial assets at FVOCI
Equities

Total

2018

Financial assets at FVTPL
Derivative financial assets
Equities

Financial assets at FVOCI
Equities

Total

During 2019 and 2018 there were no transfers between levels.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

€ € € €

- 34.299 - 34.299

5.212 - - 5.212
5.618.359 - 1.044.488 6.662.847
5.623.571 34.299 1.044.488 6.702.358
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

€ € € €

- 21.975 - 21.975

6.434 - - 6.434
3.446.805 - 972.560 4.419.365
3.453.239 21.975 972.560 4.447.774

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Balance of 1 January
Disposal (Note 23)

Gains recognised in other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December

Unlisted equity investments

2019

€

972.560

71.928

1.044.488

2018
€

2.196.194
(1.223.634)

972.560

For the valuation at fair value of the investments in equity securities which are classified as Level 3, a
valuation method based on the Bank’s equity at which the investment is held as well as estimates of the

management of the Bank have been used.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

The following table presents the carrying amounts and the fair value of financial instruments not measured
at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3.

2019

Financial assets measured
at amortised costs

Loans and advances to
customers

Deposits with banks
Financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities
measured at amortised
costs

Deposits and other
customer accounts
Deposits from banks

2018

Financial assets measured
at amortised costs

Loans and advances to
customers

Deposits with banks
Financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities
measured at amortised
costs

Deposits and other
customer accounts
Deposits from banks

Level 1
€

146.787.096

Level 1

150.366.162

Level 2

223.707.922

597.582.328
21.772.656

Level 2

206.621.895

587.445.312
9.169.102

Level 3

€

240.364.963

Level 3
€

260.984.078

Fair value
for
disclosure
purposes
€

240.364.963
223.707.922

146.787.096

597.582.328
21.772.656

Fair value
for
disclosure
purposes
€

260.984.078
206.621.895

150.366.162

587.445.312
9.169.102

Carrying
amount
€

240.364.963
223.707.922

146.787.096

597.582.328
21.772.656

Carrying
amount
€

260.984.078
206.621.895

150.366.162

587.445.312
9.169.102
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41.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages its capital to ensure that the Bank complies with regulatory capital requirements and
that the Bank maintains adequate capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise

shareholders’ value.

As from 1 January 2014, the new Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) and amended Capital
Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) became effective, comprising the European regulatory package
designed to transpose the new capital, liquidity and leverage standards of Basel III into the European
Union’s legal framework. CRR establishes the prudential requirements for capital, liquidity and leverage
that entities need to abide by. It is immediately binding on all EU member states. CRD IV governs
access to deposit-taking activities, internal governance arrangements including remuneration, board
composition and transparency. Unlike the CRR, CRD IV needs to be transposed into national laws,
which allows national regulators to impose additional capital buffer requirements. CRR introduced
significant changes in the prudential regulatory regime applicable to banks including amended minimum
capital adequacy ratios, changes to the definition of capital and the calculation of risk weighted assets and
the introduction of new measures relating to leverage, liquidity and funding. CRR permits a transitional
period for certain of the enhanced capital requirements and certain other measures, such as the leverage
ratio, which are not expected to be fully implemented until 2019.

The Bank has chosen to apply the EU transitional arrangements for regulatory capital purposes (EU
Regulation 2017/2395) according to which the capital impact of the changes introduced by IFRS 9 at the
beginning of 2018, is ‘phased in’ over a 5-year period. During the ‘phased-in’ 5-year period the IFRS9
impairment provisions are added back to CET1 capital according to the following weighting factors: 0.95,
0.85, 0.7, 0.5 and 0.25 in 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 respectively.

The Bank’s capital position under CRD IV/CRR after applying the transitional arrangement for IFRS 9
and on a fully loaded basis is presented below.

According According
transitional Fully loaded transitional  Fully loaded
arrangements basis  arrangements basis
2019 2019 2018 2018
EUR'000 EUR'000 EUR'000 EUR'000
Common Equity Tier (CET1) 104.809 70.926 108.750 70.196
Additional Tier 1 Capital (ATI) - - - -
Tier 2 Capital (T2) - - - -
Regulatory Capital 104.809 70.926 108.750 70.196
Risk weighted assets — credit
risk 299.772 312.292 325.934 338.095
Risk weighted assets — market
risk 2.400 2.400 3.000 3.000
Risk weighted assets —
operational risk 42325 42325 >1.263 51263
Total risk weighted assets 344.497 357.017 380.197 392.358
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42,

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

2019 2019 2018 2018

% % % %

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio 30,42% 19,87% 28,60% 17,89%
Tier 1 ratio 30,42% 19,87% 28,60% 17,89%
Total capital ratio 30,42% 19.87% 28,60% 17,89%

The Bank was compliant with its capital requirements through the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2019.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

With the recent and rapid developments of the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak the world
economy entered a period of unprecedented health care crisis that has already caused considerable global
disruption in business activities and everyday life. Many countries have adopted extraordinary and
economically costly containment measures. Certain countries have required companies to limit or even
suspend normal business operations. Governments, including the Republic of Cyprus, have implemented

restrictions on travelling as well as strict quarantine measures.

The COVID 19 outbreak is a new emerging risk. The Bank’s priority is always the well-being of customers
and staff. Therefore, the Bank has invoked the business continuity plans to help ensure the safety and well-
being of staff, as well as the capability to support customers and maintain business operations.

The COVID-19 outbreak, and most importantly, the rapid spread of the epidemic globally, is now expected
to adversely affect economic activity worldwide, with the Cyprus economy facing significant challenges in
view of the important role of services in economic activity and its relatively shallow production structure
(high dependence on imports). The evolution of the disease and its economic impact remains highly
uncertain. Against this backdrop of ongoing downward revisions of growth forecasts for the global
economy and the euro area, in conjunction with Cyprus’ high dependency on inbound tourism, Cyprus GDP
growth is expected to substantially deviate from the official scenario in 2020.

Depending on how the situation develops and the duration of the disruption, there is the potential for the
associated economic slowdown to impact expected credit losses. It is also possible that the Bank may
experience reductions from lower lending and transaction volumes, which may impact the Risk Weighted

Assets and capital position.

The event is considered as a non-adjusting event and is therefore not reflected in the recognition and
measurement of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements as at 31 December 2019.

The ECL at 31 December 2019 was estimated based on a range of forecast economic conditions as at that
date. The impact on GDP and other key indicators will be considered when determining the severity and
likelihood of downside economic scenarios that will be used to estimate ECL under IFRS 9 in 2020, upon

assessment of the duration of the disruption caused by the virus.

The COVID-19 outbreak and uncertainties surrounding the evolution of the disease and its economic impact
remain highly uncertain.

106



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2019

42,

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)
ECB Banking Supervision measures in reaction to COVID-19

a. Temporary capital and operational relief

On 12 March 2020, the ECB announced a number of measures to ensure that its directly supervised banks
can continue to fulfil their role in funding the real economy as the economic effects of the COVID-19

become apparent.

In this context, the ECB will allow banks to operate temporarily below the level of capital defined by the
Pillar 2 Guidance (“P2G”), the capital conservation buffer (“CCB”) and the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR).
The ECB considers that these temporary measures will be enhanced by the appropriate relaxation of the
countercyclical capital buffer (“CcyB”) by the national macroprudential authorities.

Banks will also be allowed to partially use capital instruments that do not qualify as CET1 capital, for
example Additional Tier 1 or Tier 2 instruments, to meet the Pillar 2 Requirements (“P2R”). This brings
forward a measure that was initially scheduled to come into effect in January 2021, as part of the latest
revision of the Capital Requirements Directive (“CRD V”).

In addition, the ECB is discussing with banks individual measures, such as adjusting timetables, processes
and deadlines. For example, the ECB will consider rescheduling on-site inspections and extending
deadlines for the implementation of remediation actions stemming from recent on-site inspections and
internal model investigations, while ensuring the overall prudential soundness of the supervised banks. In
this context, the ECB Guidance to banks on non-performing loans also provides supervisors with sufficient
flexibility to adjust to bank-specific circumstances. Extending deadlines for certain non-critical supervisory
measures and data requests will also be considered.

b. Liquidity support measures
I ECB announced easing of conditions for targeted longer-term refinancing operations
(TLTRO III)

On 12 March 2020 the ECB announced more favourable operations to support bank lending to those
affected most by the spread of the coronavirus, in particular small and medium-sized enterprises. These

measures include:

. Interest rate on TLTRO III reduced by 25 basis points and can be as low as 25 basis points below
average deposit facility rate during period from June 2020 to June 2021 for all TLTRO III operations
outstanding during that period.

Borrowing allowance raised to 50% of eligible loans

Bid limit per operation removed on all future operations

Lending performance threshold reduced to 0%

Early repayment option available after one year from settlement starting in September 2021
Modification accompanied by series of longer-term refinancing operations (LTROs) designed to
bridge liquidity needs until settlement of fourth TLTRO III operation in June 2020.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

ii. ECB announced measures to support bank liquidity conditions and money market activity

On 12 March 2020 the ECB also decided on additional longer-term refinancing operations (LTROs) to
provide immediate liquidity support to banks and to safeguard money market conditions. While there are
no material signs of strains in money markets or of liquidity shortages in the banking system, these
operations will provide an effective backstop if necessary.

iii. ECB announced €750 billion Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP)

On 18 March 2020 the ECB launched a new temporary asset purchase programme of private and public
sector securities to counter the serious risks to the monetary policy transmission mechanism and the outlook
for the euro area posed by the outbreak and escalating diffusion of the coronavirus, COVID-19. This new
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) will have an overall envelope of €750 billion.
Purchases will be conducted until the end of 2020 and will include all the asset categories eligible under
the existing asset purchase programme (APP). The ECB will terminate net asset purchases under PEPP
once it judges that the coronavirus Covid-19 crisis phase is over, but in any case, not before the end of the

year.

The ECB will also expand the range of eligible assets under the corporate sector purchase programme
(CSPP) to non-financial commercial paper, making all commercial papers of sufficient credit quality
eligible for purchase under CSPP.

As well as, ease the collateral standards by adjusting the main risk parameters of the collateral framework.
In particular, it will expand the scope of Additional Credit Claims (ACC) to include claims related to the
financing of the corporate sector. This will ensure that counterparties can continue to make full use of the

Eurosystem’s refinancing operations.

The ECB has stated its commitment to playing its role in supporting all citizens of the euro area through
this extremely challenging time. To that end, the ECB will ensure that all sectors of the economy can benefit
from supportive financing conditions that enable them to absorb this shock. This applies equally to families,

firms, banks and governments.

The ECB has further stated that it will do everything necessary within its mandate including increasing the
size of its asset purchase programmes and adjusting their composition, by as much as necessary and for as
long as needed. It is further committed to explore all options and all contingencies to support the Eurozone

economy through this shock.
Supervisory flexibility regarding the treatment of NPLs

Furthermore, on 20 March 2020, the ECB announced that it supports all initiatives aimed at providing
sustainable solutions to temporarily distressed debtors in the context of the current outbreak. To this end,
the ECB has introduced supervisory flexibility regarding the treatment of NPLs, in particular to allow banks
to fully benefit from guarantees and moratoriums put in place by public authorities to tackle the current

distress.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

First, within their remit and on a temporary basis, supervisors will exercise flexibility regarding the
classification of debtors as “unlikely to pay” when banks call on public guarantees granted in the context
of COVID-19. The supervisor will also exercise certain flexibilities regarding loans under COVID-19

related public moratoriums.

Second, loans which become non-performing and are under public guarantees will benefit from preferential
prudential treatment in terms of supervisory expectations about loss provisioning. Lastly, supervisors will
deploy full flexibility when discussing with banks the implementation of NPL reduction strategies, taking
into account the extraordinary nature of current market conditions.

Council of Ministers of the European Union

On 12 March 2020 the Ministers of Finance of the Member States of the EU agreed with the assessment of
the Commission, that the conditions for the use of the general escape clause of the EU fiscal framework —
a severe economic downturn in the euro area or the Union as a whole — are fulfilled.

The use of the clause will ensure the needed flexibility to take all necessary measures for supporting the
health and civil protection systems and protect the economies, including through further discretionary
stimulus and coordinated action, designed, as appropriate, to be timely, temporary and targeted, by Member

States.

Ministers remain fully committed to the respect of the Stability and Growth Pact. The general escape clause
will allow the Commission and the Council to undertake the necessary policy coordination measures within
the framework of the Stability and Growth Pact, while departing from the budgetary requirements that
would normally apply, in order to tackle the economic consequences of the pandemic.

European Banking Association

On 25 March 2020 the EBA stated it is of the view that the public and private moratoriam to the extent they
are not borrower specific but rather addressed to broad ranges of product classes or customers, do not have
to be automatically classified as forbearance measures as for IFRS9 and the definition of default.

Furthermore, on 2 April 2020, EBA released more detailed guidance on the criteria to be fulfilled by
legislative and non-legislative moratoria applied before 30 June 2020. The aim of these Guidelines is to
clarify the requirements for public and private moratoria, which if fulfilled, will help avoid the classification
of exposures under the definition of forbearance or as defaulted under distressed restructuring.

Independent auditor’s report on pages 6 to 11.
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